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Editor’s Note 
 
This issue of Perspectives emphasizes on the diversity of academic research. 
Through interdisciplinary research, we enrich the existing literature by providing 
different outlooks on various interrelated social, business, and economic issues. 
This is critical because many issues faced by economic agents in ourcontemporary 
period requires different perspectives for these issues to be addressed. This 
indicates that we live in a world where diversity must be seen as an opportunity to 
expand our knowledge and create more networks that will aid in providing 
solutions to our modern day problems.  

The study by Mehryar Nooriafshar and Joe Zhou Peng (A heuristic model to 
assist the Chinese students studying in Australia) touched on a model that deals 
with issues and challenges facing the Chinese students studying at the Australian 
Universities. The model was found to have the potential for comparative analysis 
by someone who intends to monitor and adjust to the challenges and difficulties 
facing them in a different situation.    

Meanwhile, the study by Leveric T. Ng (The positive influence of 
transformational leadership in good corporate governance) provided an angle on 
transformational leadership and corporate governance and applied it to the 
Philippine context. Results showed that transformational leadership positively 
influences good corporate governance while CEO pressure on directors on firm 
profitability has no effect on the relationship between transformational leadership 
and good corporate governance. These findings arouse validation or falsification 
from other business environments and advance corporate governance 
discussions. 

On one hand, the study by Joseph Quarshie (Impact of banking industry 
factors on access to finance in Ghana) employed the structure conduct 
performance (SCP) paradigm to examine how bank concentration, competition 
and efficiency affect banks’ ability to provide affordable credit after 10 years of 
financial liberalization programs in Ghana. Results showed that moderate 
competition hinders the distinction of prices offered by banks and the inefficiency 
among banks is as a result of suboptimal use of scale.  This study is particularly 
important for developing countries where banks play a central role in providing 
capital. 

On the other hand, the study by Thanapol Srithanpong (FDI and spillovers 
on productivity and wage in the business trade and services sector: A case of 
Thailand) used cross-sectional data from the 2006 Business Trade and Services 
Survey of Thailand to investigate productivity and wage spillovers from foreign 
direct investment (FDI) in Thai business trade and services sectors. Results 
provided insights for Thai policy makers concerning promotion of the beneficial 
spillover effects of FDI in these industries.  This case study may be replicated in 
other Asian countries to build on the knowledge in the services sector of an 
economy. 
 In addition, the study by Jingran Cai, Nam Le, Thu Thai Nguyen, Felix 

Edbert Oktavius, and Sidney Roxas (Environmental and financial performance: 
The virtuous cycles of Japanese manufacturing companies)performed fixed and 
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random panel data regression analysis of comparable data regarding financial 
performance and environmental performance. Results reveal significant statistical 
correlations as well as virtuous cycles existing between environmental and 
financial performance of automotive and electronics companies selected, 
although dominant directional behaviors are different between the two 
industries.  

Lastly, the study by Herminigilda E. Salendrez (Operating segment 
disclosure practices of selected publicly listed companies in the Philippine 
manufacturing industry) looked into showing the outcome of the examination of 
selected publicly listed companies in the manufacturing industry’s operating 
segment disclosure practices with regards to their compliance with the financial 
reporting requirement embodied in the International Financial Reporting Standard 
(IFRS) 8.  

The authors of the articles in this issue of Perspectives touched on current 
global issues and laid emphasis on certain developments in the fields of business, 
economics, sustainability, and leadership. The challenge now is for economic 
agents to see the changing signs of the times and adapt to these changes to see 
the world in a different global perspective.  
 

 

 

 

 

John Paolo R. Rivera 

Managing Editor, Perspectives  
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ABSTRACT 

 
Since the 1970s, many Chinese students have taken the advantage of the available 
opportunities to undertake their tertiary studies in English speaking countries. Although the 
People’s Republic of China, their students and the host countries have enjoyed the mutual 
benefits, there have been challenges for all concerned too. This paper aims to address the 
research question of what these challenges are and how they be addressed. In order to address 
the identified research questions, an investigation utilizing the data collected from different 
cases was carried out.  These cases dealt with issues and challenges facing the Chinese students 
studying at the Australian Universities.  The case interviews were conducted separately and then 
the commonalities in issues were identified. These factors were grouped in six different 
categories of language skills, adjustment capabilities, effort, social pressure, financial situation 
and teaching support. Various scenarios relating to each group were provided and discussed. A 
heuristics model to measure an index value for the potential academic performances of the 
Chinese students was explained and presented. The heuristic model was applied to example 
cases and the users verified the results to be valid and compatible with their expectations. This 
model can also be utilized for the purposes of monitoring one’s academic performance levels, in 
a manner, which allows carrying out a what-if analysis or a comparison with other similar 
scenarios.  
 
JEL Classification: A22, A29, B41, Z1 
 
Keywords:  heuristic model, education, academic performance 
 

INTRODUCTION 

 
With the People’s Republic of China’s growing economic power, the Western-developed 
countries have witnessed that over 3 million Chinese students are in tertiary educational 
institutions since 1979. This growing Chinese student population has brought huge financial 
income to those host countries, besides of other social benefits of enhanced cultural exchange 
and attraction of skilled talents to those countries.  

Nowadays, Chinese students are the biggest international student cohort in the 
Western-developed countries such as the United States of America, the United Kingdom, 

mailto:mehryar@usq.edu.au
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Canada, Australia, and Japan. However, this growing Chinese student population has also 
created concerns over equity, pedagogy and quality issues in the tertiary education system 
within those host countries. For example, many Chinese students performed not so well with 
their university studies after arriving at their overseas universities because of inefficient 
language capabilities, lack of support, and difficulties to adjust from the traditional Chinese 
teacher-centered learning habits to the different Western-student-focused learning culture.  

The research problem therefore is on how to effectively help those Chinese students 
to improve their academic performance and to provide them with guidance towards more 
successful education.  The main objective of this paper is to identify and present effective 
means of adopting suitable approaches and adjusting attitudes for the purpose of Chinese 
students' successful education in Australia. The main hypotheses include: 

x Linguistic skills and adjustment capabilities are the principal causes of any 
problems; 

x Formulation of the main contributory factors in a heuristic model can lead to 
opportunities for predicting the potential academic performance indicators for 
these students. 

The investigation is based on different cases chosen from both Chinese students and 
educators. All participants in the study have been interviewed by the authors using the same 
instrument. The selected interviewees for the analysis were the most appropriate cases. 
 

LITERATURE REVIEW 
 

A number of research articles about this study are reviewed and the methodology used to 
collect, and analyze the data sample is outlined.   A series of predictions are then presented 
based on insights from the articles and the interviews. The paper proposes a heuristic model for 
the purposes of predicting the Performance Index for a prospective Chinese student wishing to 
study work in Australia. 

Differences between national cultures are topics of interest to many. Popular among 
researchers are the models that seek to explain and describe these differences (Hofstede, 1980, 
1993).  

He classified countries based on the survey data collected in early 1970s from over 
100,000 IBM employees located in 72 countries. Initially, 40 countries were classified. Further 
analysis of the data allowed three regions and ten other countries to be classified according to 
four dimensions of culture, which he labeled as uncertainty avoidance, masculinity, power 
distance and individualism. Research conducted a few years later uncovered a fifth dimension 
that was termed as long term orientation.  This last dimension refers to the acceptance by a 
culture of a long term and a traditional view of time. The extent to which stereotypical male 
and female characteristics are found in a culture was captured by the masculinity dimension.  
The degree to which inequality is accepted in a society was termed power distance. Finally, 
whether the interests of the individual or the group take precedence is referred to as 
individualism. 

Originating with the ideas of sociologist, Talcott Parsons, a fellow Dutchman Franz 
Trompenaars (1994) used survey data from 28 countries to categorize national cultures 
according to five bipolar dimensions. He used questions that posed different dilemmas of 
everyday life. Achievement as opposed to ascription refers to whether status is given or 
whether we need to prove ourselves.  Specific as opposed to diffuse refers to whether we 
handle ourselves in predetermined ways or whether our relationships are contextual and 
changing. Neutral versus emotional refers to whether individuals display or hide emotions.  
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Universalism, the opposite of particularism is concerned with whether rules or relationships 
take precedence. Finally, similar to Hofstede’s model, individualism versus collectivism explores 
whether the needs of the individual or the group is dominant in a society. These two models or 
frameworks of national culture differences are well known and have been popularized in many 
management literatures. 

 
DATA COLLECTION AND DISCUSSION 

 
One must remember that the People’s Republic of China is a society in which people are ranked 
according to their social status or position at organizations. Hence, a totally different kind of 
relationship between people should be expected. As pointed out by Hofstede (1980), the fact 
that not all individuals in societies are equal, it expresses the attitude of the culture towards 
these inequalities amongst us. Hofstede (1993) also suggested that societies like China could be 
regarded as hierarchical. The hierarchical feature of the Chinese society does not imply 
inequity. China is a rapidly developing country with its strong beliefs in their traditions and the 
traditional religions have also had similar effects on the Chinese attitude in terms of equity and 
equality of human beings in their society. According to Taka et al (1994), “In the case of 
Buddhism, every living creature is said to have an equal Buddha-hood, a Buddhahood which is 
very similar with the idea of numen and microcosm.” 
 Respect for others, in particular, people who are older or have a higher status in the 
society or the organization is definitely observed in China.  Respecting the superiors is 
extremely important. For instance, the person-in-charge of the Chinese society would 
practically decide how the subordinates should behave or even appear in their presence. Unlike 
the western societies, the superior can even charge the subordinates with various tasks outside 
the written duties of the position. One must remember that this kind of general attitude should 
not be perceived in a negative manner as it certainly functions well and effectively for a 
traditional society like China.  Perhaps, some of the other societies may start learning how to 
re-introduce this important attitude, which is unfortunately being gradually phased out. One 
must accept the fact that, unlike Australia and Europe and North America, China is not regarded 
as a universalist, rule based society but it is classed as a particularist society. For further reading 
refer to Trompenaars (1994). It should also be noted that, often language and culture are 
interrelated as one influences the other. Culture’s roots are deeply established in the years of 
tradition, history and language. Hence, skills and knowledge in any language play an important 
role in fully appreciating the related culture. 
 Insight from the interviews suggested that a lack of adequate knowledge of the English 
language could create a solitary situation for the Chinese students who are trying to become 
part of the society. Hence, an attempt of learning to speak read and write English reasonably 
well, would allow the student to progress well both academically and socially in Australia and, 
ultimately, hold basic conversation with the locals.  
 Although the writing system can be quite overwhelming, the spoken Chinese language 
does not have many hard-to pronounce or very specific phonemes as in the Romance and other 
Indo-European languages. It, however, utilizes different rising, declining or flat intonations 
frequently. These intonations are quite unique to the Chinese language. Therefore, 
pronunciation of different sounds used in English may pose a challenge for a Chinese student in 
Australia. The Mandarin grammar is rather straightforward and very logical. Unlike English or 
the Latin-based languages such as French, or Germanic languages such as German, Chinese 
Mandarin has rather a simple way of conjugation. This difference can also create additional 
challenges for the Chinese students to construct different tenses correctly. 
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 It should be noted that every aspect of life in the People’s Republic of China (PRC) is 
different from the cultures that are closely associated with the English speaking societies. Fully 
understanding and appreciating the Chinese language and culture can be rather challenging. 
Accepting the differences and adapting attitudes to suit the Australian environment are 
essential in overcoming the obstacles for the students.  Hence, it is important to adapt the 
traditional attitudes and try to adopt some local attitudes or at least, recognize certain 
situations related to the Australian way of life. 
 According to Jaivisam (2010), “Asian cultures are categorized to be the high-context 
culture. Opposite to low-context culture, the nonverbal messages are much more important 
and being used than the verbal communication in high-culture context.” The Chinese, generally, 
utilize the body language in a slightly different manner from the Australians.  For instance, a 
Chinese person would, very seldom, provide a negative response to a question. Often, a passive 
gesture with a readable reluctance in the facial expression would signal the unwillingness. 
 As well as being a hierarchical society, the Chinese society is relationship-oriented. 
Hence, the majority of young people aspire to climb the social status ladder. The Chinese, in 
general perceive education to be one of the most effective means of achieving this goal. With 
PRC’s ever-increasing links with the western world and improving economy, it is becoming 
closer to the Western world. As a result, the Chinese students have the desire to study at 
English-speaking universities overseas. One of these popular destinations is Australia. 
 Most Chinese businesses are also very keen on connecting and networking with the 
western countries. Hence, they would be willing to adopt some western attitudes. The Chinese 
education systems are introducing western ideas into their formal curricula too.  
 Based on the above discussions, a heuristic model for predicting the Academic 
Performance Index for settling in Australia is proposed. 
 

A Heuristic Model 
The data analysis and evaluation of the selected cases noted above led to the 

identification of a set of issues, themes and topics, which in turn were grouped into a set of 
common factors.  The groups covered aspects such as language skills, adjustment capabilities, 
effort (student’s effort and commitment while studying), social pressure, teaching support, and 
financial situation for the students.  

For the purposes of this paper, the possible problems or challenges have been 
classified under five main categories. The rationale for this grouping is based on the frequency 
of the issues mentioned in the interviews. The following are the main topics raised and 
discussed by the interviewees. 

x Language Skills  
x Adjustment Capabilities  
x Effort  
x Social Pressure  
x Teaching Support  
x Financial Situation (Negative) 
It should be noted that the emphasis was placed on each category and the frequency 

of its occurrence in the interviews. As a result, the categories for the issues were ranked 
according to their importance. Language skills have the highest weighting and the financial 
situation aspects rank number six. It should be mentioned that the financial situation of the 
students is perceived to have a negative impact – the affluence of the parents has an inverse 
relationship with the child’s academic success. 
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If we allocate weighting values of 6 to 1 to these categories, language skills will receive 
6, adjustment capabilities 5, effort (student’s effort and commitment while studying) 4, social 
pressure 3, teaching support 2, and financial situation 1. Now we may utilize these categories as 
factors contributing to what we have referred to as the “Academic Performance Index”. In 
other words, these factors can be regarded as independent variables of our heuristic model and 
the Challenge Index will depend on these variables: 

 
API = Function of {LS, AC, E, SP, TS, FS} 

Where: 
API – Academic Performance Index 
LS = Language Skills 
AC = Adjustment Capabilities 
E = Effort 
SP= Social Pressure 
TS = Teaching Support 
FS = Financial Situation 
Where, the independent variables in the model are assumed to have an additive effect 

on each other. 
Therefore, a prospective student, by inserting values in the model, may approximate 

an Academic Performance Index for their experience in Australia. This process can be 
completed by substituting zero (0 being the smallest value of effect) for the absence of the 
factors (independent variables), or approximate percentages for the strength of the existing 
factors for each category.  Note that in the case of the financial situation (negative factor), the 
perceived percentage would be subtracted from 100 (or 1). These percentages can then be 
multiplied by the factor rankings of (6, 5, 4, 3, 2 or 1).  Finally, all the products (up to 6) can be 
added up to determine a figure, as a guide for the Academic Performance Index (API). 

Mathematically, the Performance Index ranges between 0 and 21. Practically, 
however, the index value should be a figure greater than zero and less than 21, as zero or 100 
percent performance levels for any category would not be realistic.  Therefore, we may regard 
the band consisting of 10, 11, and 12 as a reasonable threshold for the performance level. It 
means, that for instance, an API of 18 leads to better success compared to an API of 7 or 6. It 
must be emphasized that this approach should be treated as a heuristic (close enough) rather 
than an optimization (exact) model. 

Consider an example based on a real situation of one of the interviewees: 
 
LS = 0.6 – the user of the model perceives her skill level with the language as 60%. In other 
words, this person has 60 percent confidence in her language capabilities. And; 

AC = 0.5 
E = 0.3 
SP = 0.4 
TS = 0.25 
FS = 0.7 (1-0.7) = 0.3 

Now, we substitute these percentages into the model as follows: 
API = Sum{6 X 0.6 and 5 X 0.5 and 4 X 0.3 and 3 X 0.4 and 2 X 0.25 and 1 X 0.3} 
API = 9.3 
 

The generated result of 9.3 is regarded as a lower performance index. In order to verify 
this result, it was checked and confirmed by the participant to be compatible with her 



Asia Pacific Business & Economics Perspectives, 2(1), Summer 2014 

 

11  

expectations. In other words, this particular student did not feel that she had a very high 
success rate in studying in Australia. The test experiment was repeated for several other 
students. They all produced very similar outcomes in terms of the accuracy of the heuristic 
model. 

It should be noted that this model, as suggested above, provides a figure as a guide, 
which can be used for comparison purposes with other expatriates. It can also provide an 
opportunity for performing what-if analyses. Hence, the user of the model can relax a factor, 
increase or decrease its percentage and then determine some guiding figures. If the person in 
question, for instance, decides that they have made further progress with the language; 
therefore, the factor deserves a higher percentage, then they may choose a larger percentage 
than sixty. As this is intended to be a heuristic rather than a rigorous model, it is therefore 
suggested that larger increments such as 25 percent, 50 percent, and 75 percent are used. 

 

CONCLUSIONS 
 

The main objective of this paper was to identify the key factors, which make studying in 
Australia a challenge for the Chinese students. This objective was achieved by identifying the 
language skills, adjustment capabilities, effort, social pressure, teaching support and the 
financial situation as the main factors. The investigation was taken a step further by developing 
a heuristic model. The heuristic model developed can be also used as a means of what-if-
analysis for comparison or exploration purposes. 

The model was put to the test and the generated results were verified to be 
acceptable. The model has the potential for comparative or what-if analysis by someone who 
wishes to monitor and adjust the challenges and difficulties facing them in a different situation.  
The model requires further enhancements based on additional data for testing and further 
development. Hence, future research projects related to the enhancement of this model are 
envisaged. 
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ABSTRACT 

 

Transformational leadership and corporate governance are rarely studied together, and this 
applies to the Philippine context as well. The Philippine private corporate structure based largely 
on corporate ownership, provides this research a unique and fertile ground on which to study 
how transformational leadership impacts good corporate governance. This study seeks to 
provide empirical evidence establishing the link between transformational leadership and good 
corporate governance, and how CEO pressure on directors on firm profitability affects this 
relationship.  The research methodology employed is a mixed-methods procedure of a 
concurrent triangulation strategy. Thirty corporate directors (executive directors) were given 
questionnaires to complete, and afterwards underwent personal interviews to provide the 
qualitative data required for this study. Statistical results from regression analysis show that 
transformational leadership positively influences good corporate governance and that CEO 
pressure on directors on firm profitability has no effect on the relationship between 
transformational leadership and good corporate governance. Director perception of good 
corporate governance is not influenced by the presence or absence of pressure on firm 
profitability.  Furthermore, the qualitative findings corroborate the statistical inferences from 
the quantitative analysis.  There were several unanticipated results such as CEO duality as a 
moderating variable and religion as a conceptual definition by respondents for both 
transformational leadership and good corporate governance, which may provide abundant 
input for further research on leadership and corporate governance. 
 
JEL Classification: I21, M14 
 
Keywords: transformational leadership, corporate governance, executive directors, 
independent directors 
 

INTRODUCTION 

  

Burns (1978) introduced the concept of transformational and transactional leadership later 
developed by (Bass, 1985), who posited that these are independent but complementary 
constructs. Transactional leadership focuses on an exchange of productivity for reward, that is, 
productivity can be achieved by giving rewards, and no productivity can mean withdrawal of 
rewards or benefits. Meanwhile, transformational leadership is concerned about achieving 
extra-ordinary outcomes, and in the process allows employees to develop their own leadership 
capacities (Avolio, Waldman, & Einstein, 1988; Bass & Riggio, 2006; Bass, Waldman, Avolio, & 
Bebb, 1987). Consequently, transformational leadership occurs when leaders and followers 
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raise one another to a higher level of motivation (Bennis & Nanus, as cited in Pawar & Eastman, 
1997).  

Transformational leadership will continue to be an explored area of leadership as 
studies owing to many unexplored areas such as linking transformational leadership and 
performance (Goodwin, Whittington, Murray, & Nichols, 2011; Valdiserri & Wilson, 2010), 
cascading to different levels of transformational leadership (Bass, Avolio, & Goodheim, 1987; 
Bruch & Walter, 2007), as well as other facets like development of transformational leadership, 
new predictors and contingencies, training authentic transformational leaders, the inner 
workings of transformational leaders, the dark side of transformational leadership, and many 
other perspectives (Bass & Riggio, 2006). 

Placed alongside this leadership perspective is the international focus on business 
crises (1997 Asian financial crisis) and corporate scandals (Fortune 500 companies Worldcom, 
Bear Stearns, Lehman Brothers, AIG, to name a few) spanning the decades of 1980s up to the 
first decade of the 21st century, which put leadership and governance critically at the forefront. 
Corporate governance, or the bad practice of it, has been blamed as the culprit for the Enron, 
World Tyco, and other business debacles (Elson, 2004; Lawal, 2012; Naciri, 2010). Since then, 
the focus has been turned to governance, first termed by the World Bank as the way in which 
power is exercised in the management of social and economic resources of a country for 
development (Naciri, 2010). At the corporate level, it has taken on several meanings, such as all 
the principles, mechanism, and processes that used to govern organizations ethically (Naciri, 
2010); the process by which companies are directed and controlled (Cadbury Report 1992, as 
cited in Tricker, 2009; OECD, 1999, as cited in Tricker, 2009); and the exercise of power over 
corporate entities (Tricker, 2009).  Variations in definitions highlighted different perspectives by 
authors and focus- activities of the shareholders, the board, and management; the context in 
which corporate governance is practiced; the widest focus is one which involves all and every 
element that can affect the exercise of power over corporations (Clarke, 2004, as cited in 
Tricker, 2009; Tricker, 2009).  

Directors are central characters of corporate governance and are considered the 
guardians of corporations. In the OECD Principles of Corporate Governance (2008), it is stated, 
“The corporate governance framework should ensure the strategic guidance of the company, 
the effective monitoring of management by the board, and the board’s accountability to the 
company and shareholders.” The early conception of corporate governance was based on the 
agency theory, which assumes that humans have individualistic motivations, and even its 
psychological explanation points to humans as rooted in economic rationality (Davis, 
Schoorman, & Donaldson, 1997). This gives rise to the principal (shareholder) and agent 
(manager) divergence. Tricker (2009) noted that the conceptual underpinning of corporate 
codes all over the world is rooted in this agency dilemma.  

The relationship between CEO and the board of directors as a result of the agency 
dilemma can be regarded as an “uneasy but more coequal alliance” (Useem, 1996 as cited in 
Chen, 2007, p. 59). Most researches on the CEO and the board dynamics centers on power, 
control, involvement, and vigilance among others (Boyd, Haynes, & Zona, 2011). Under 
stewardship theory, this relationship is predicted to enhance performance if the positions of 
Chairman and CEO are combined as one – hailed as CEO duality, or when the CEO also serves as 
the Chairman of the Board (Desai, Kroll, & Wright, 2003; Faleye, 2007; Finkelstein & D’Aveni, 
1994; Tuggle, Sirmon, Reutzel, & Bierman, 2010). CEO duality “removes the role ambiguities 
and conflicts which might arise with the sharing of power (Boyd et al., 2011, p. 1895), and 
“establishes unity of command” (Finkelstein & D’Aveni, 1994, p. 1080). 
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This study explores the relationship between transformational leadership and good 
corporate governance drawing from theoretical perspectives offered by agency theory and 
stewardship theory (Davis et al., 1997; Tricker, 2009). Previous studies have linked 
transformational leadership with positive firm performance (Avolio et al., 1988; Humphreys & 
Einstein, 2003; Jung & Avolio, 1999; Sashkin & Sashkin, 2003; Valdiserri & Wilson, 2010; 
Waldman, Ramirez, House, & Puranam, 2001), some of which, these outcomes are measured in 
terms of profitability. After all, even if stewardship theory supporters acknowledge stakeholder 
interest, they believe that the directors’ responsibility is to the shareholders (OECD, 2008; 
Tricker, 2009). 

I also look into the extent of moderating effect of CEO pressure on directors on firm 
profitability to good corporate governance. Occupational stress (Ongori & Agolia, 2008) and 
other stresses brought about by uncertain conditions (Waldman et al., 2001) can push for 
performance at one end, but may also result in dissatisfaction on the other. From the 
perspective of leadership, stress can also have an ill effect. That is, according to Bass (2008), 
“instead of careful analysis and calculation or the effective use of the intuition of the expert 
based on learning and experience, stressed decision makers fall back on nonproductive intuitive 
reactions that satisfy their immediate personal emotional needs rather than the objective 
requirements of the situation.”   
 

Research hypotheses 
There is no direct link between transformational leadership and good corporate 

governance or at least the financial performance (Avolio et al., 1988), although most 
researchers agree that transformational leadership results in better organizational and financial 
outcomes. Although a number of studies have claimed that transformational leadership does 
contribute to better performance, these were vaguely described as profitability, organizational 
success, or financial performance without getting into detailed variables (Petra, 2005; Valdiserri 
& Wilson, 2010; Waldman et al., 2001).  These can actually be derivatives of good corporate 
governance as described in a working paper (McGee, 2009).  

The positive relationship between transformational leadership and good corporate 
governance is illustrated in Figure 1.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Figure 1. The relationship of transformational leadership and good corporate governance 
 

H1: Transformational leadership positively influences good corporate governance. Stress can 
be a deterrent to good performance and a cause for job dissatisfaction (Ongori & Agolia, 2008). 
From a leadership stance, stress can cause faulty decision-making (Bass, 2008). However, in 
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studies of transformational leadership, unstable conditions, or even stress contributed to 
performance. Charisma or idealized influence (Bass & Riggio, 2006; Waldman et al., 2001) 
influenced positive firm performance. “Members identify with a leader’s vision and with the 
experience a heightened sense of self-efficacy as a result of their cohesion is developed” 
(Podsakoff, MacKenzie, Moorman, & Fetter, as cited in Waldman et al., 2001).  Moreover, 
following the argument on charisma as an attribute of transformational leadership, a study by 
Tichy and Devanna (1996) as cited in Hinkin & Tracey (1999) claimed, “a crisis may be a 
necessary condition for a charismatic leader to emerge” (p. 110). To understand this conflict  
better, I put forward the following hypothesis. 
 
H2: Transformational leadership positively influences good corporate governance if directors 

are not pressured by the CEO on firm profitability. CEO’s overemphasis on economic values or 
maximizing profit can lead subordinates to believe that the CEO exercises autocratic leadership 
(Luque, Washburn, Waldman, & House, 2008). This perspective runs counter to visionary 
leadership, which in the authors’ study, states that autocratic leaders tend to focus on short-
term financial gains and can be perceived by subordinates as “failing to provide a compelling 
vision of the future” (p. 633). In contrast, visionary leaders, who hold stakeholder values have 
the propensity to articulate future-oriented visions benefitting multiple constituencies can be 
viewed as offering visions high in content (inspirational concern) and quality (consideration of 
broader and longer-term effects). In Luque et al. (2008), it was shown that visionary leaders 
have subordinates who exert extra effort which lead to firm performance. However, the 
opposite was not seen for autocratic leaders.  

The shareholder-wealth-maximizing paradigm of Tourigny, Dougan, Washburn, and 
Clements (2003) espoused the idea that the be-all and end-all of corporate organizations is 
profitability. This pushes executives to render questionable behavior and decisions to enhance 
the bottom line. An example cited was the tampering with the books, in an effort to show 
short-term financial gains and satisfying powerful shareholders.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Y-Value 1: If the CEO pressure on directors on firm profitability is low, the relationship between transformational 
leadership good corporate governance is positive. 
Y-Value 2: If the CEO pressure on directors on firm profitability is high, transformational leadership and perception of 
good corporate governance is negative 
Figure 2. Interaction effect of CEO pressure on directors on firm profitability on good corporate 
governance 
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In the third hypothesis, the moderating variable changes the relationship between 
transformational leadership and good corporate governance depending on the CEO pressure on 
directors on firm profitability.  According to Hair, Black, Babin, and Anderson (2010), this 
moderator or interaction effect complements the explanation for the relationship between the 
independent and dependent variables, or in this case the relationship between 
transformational leadership and good corporate governance as illustrated by Figure 2. 
 
H3: CEO pressure on directors on firm profitability is a moderating influence on good 

corporate governance. This framework highlights the consequences of transformational 
leadership to good corporate governance and how CEO pressure on directors on profitability 
moderates this relationship.  Directors should be constantly aware of their roles as stewards of 
companies and exercise vigilance to ensure proper governance. 
 

Significance of the Study 

The usual assumption of pressures on firm profitability is from the board of directors 
to the CEO to deliver bottom line objectives of the company, and this is based on the existing 
legal framework whereby the CEO reports to the board of directors.  But because of the nature 
of privately held corporations, particularly in family-owned corporations, the CEO can be in 
control of the board (De Ocampo, 2000; Ferrer & Banderlipe, 2012; Khan, 1999).  More often, 
the CEO or the largest shareholders place these directors on board (De Ocampo, 2000; Latham, 
1999, as cited in Petra, 2005). Because of this, directors become beholden to the CEO (Daily, 
Dalton, & Canella, 2003). 

Transformational leadership, on the other hand, has lofty goals of accomplishing the 
corporate vision by elevating employees to sharing the vision with leadership, and in turn raise 
them up to become leaders themselves, and to even make of them “moral agents” (Avolio et 
al., 1988; Burns, 1978, as cited in Gardiner, 2006; Sarros & Santora, 2001; Springett, 2004). The 
kind of leadership practice demanded of the board of directors is beyond what protects the 
interest of shareholders, but seeks to develop leaders with moral ascendancy.  

Corporate codes around the world are all responses to the agency dilemma (Tricker, 
2009), which sees the agent (management) as someone who has “individualistic utility 
motivations” and who will “rationally maximize their own utility at the expense of the principal” 
(Davis et al., 1997, p. 22). This study, though, looks at the CEO as “self-actualizing” (Davis et al., 
1997), and maximizing profits for the company can be among the “self-actualizing” drivers of 
CEO actions. 

Literatures showed how these variables were studied separately, with a few of these 
demonstrating a convergence of transformational leadership and corporate governance. This 
study is a necessary step to establish a positive link between transformational leadership and 
corporate governance, and also to ascertain whether CEO pressure on directors on profitability 
has a moderating effect on corporate governance. Using a questionnaire, this study should 
provide rich insights into directors’ conceptions of leadership and corporate governance, and 
their views about how the stress on profitability can affect their opinions on the two variables. 
The study shows how these variables operate given the peculiar and unique corporate set up in 
the country. This research should be able to provide abundant input for future research on 
leadership and corporate governance in the Philippines. 

The results of this study may also be used to push for more efforts from the Philippine 
government and corporate governance institutions on how to improve corporate governance 
practice in private corporations, not just mere compliance through set structures, but rather 
beyond compliance through behavioral and ethical foundations. 
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The hegemony of the agency theory in the study of corporate governance is addressed 
(Desai et al., 2003).  CEO pressure on directors on firm profitability can be a reason why agency 
theory is widely accepted as a theoretical basis.  However, this study also contributes by 
expositing why the study of corporate governance through the lens of stewardship theory, and 
the influence of transformational leadership in carrying out good corporate governance may be 
able to explain the dynamics between the two concepts.   

Further, by exploring the moderating factor of CEO pressure on directors on firm 
profitability, it may make us understand why manifestations of transformational leadership 
behavior of CEOs, who themselves are either executive directors or Chairs of boards, may 
temper the level of good corporate governance. This is an unexplored area in corporate 
governance research, and findings of this study will contribute to the body of work on the 
wealth maximization perspective of corporations. 

Research on corporate governance is primarily conducted on independent directors as 
respondents; very few studies, if any, are done with executive directors (O’Toole, 2006).  These 
studies only show how corporate governance are complied with by independent directors and 
how this process improves organization performance.  When executive directors, defined by 
Petra (2005) as board members who sit in the board but have direct involvement with the day-
to-day operations of the company, are the subjects of a study, where will the difference in 
opinions about CEO pressure on profitability lie?  This study looks at how executive directors in 
a board respond to CEO pressure on directors on firm profitability affect their concept of good 
corporate governance.   

The conflicting findings, when stress brought upon by work pressure leads to positive 
or negative organizational performance have not been sufficiently explained from previous 
studies.  Also, where does the stress come from? Is it solely directly coming from the CEO 
whose prime objective is to produce company profits or is it from some other factor? 

Further, pressure coming from CEO on directors on firm profitability in carrying out 
good governance has not been researched on since the usual assumption of pressure on firm 
profitability comes from the board of directors to the CEO.  But when the pressure on the 
directors comes from the CEO, does transformational leadership still positively influence good 
corporate governance?   

This study contributes to the current body of knowledge in corporate governance by 
providing new insights on director views of CEO leadership style and whether this influences 
their concept of good corporate governance when the directors feel the pressure from the CEO 
to produce company profits. This will be of help to researchers of corporate governance, who 
intend to look at economic as well as behavioral perspectives of the topic. 

Corporate governance despite universally- accepted codes, have different meanings 
and implications on the country of origin and its culture (Iu & Batten, 2001).  This study 
attempts to explain the phenomena by demonstrating the perceptions of the Philippine board 
directors on transformational leadership and corporate governance and how pressures on them 
on firm profitability affect the relationship of the two constructs. It is particularly significant as 
the Philippines presents a cultural context which manifests in a unique private corporate setup. 
The findings of this study will add to the literature on corporate governance in Asia.    
 

METHODOLOGY 

 
This research took the form of an empirical investigation on the influence of transformational 
leadership on good corporate governance and whether CEO pressure on directors on firm 
profitability would have a moderating effect on this relationship. The primary data used to 
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answer the research questions are questionnaires and interviews (Cozby, 2005) given to 30 
executive board members from different Philippine private corporations and from various 
industries. Board members are leaders who ensure proper governance of their respective 
organizations and they will be the most appropriate respondents for this study (Nicholson & 
Newton, 2010). 

The research strategy used for this study was a survey. The survey administered to 
company directors aided in explaining the positive relationship between transformational 
leadership and good corporate governance, and if this relationship is moderated by CEO 
pressure on directors on firm profitability.  Saunders, Lewis, and Thornhill (2010) stated that 
apart from providing quantitative data for analysis, the survey could also be used to provide 
possible reasons for particular relationships between variables.   

The semi-structured interviews with the same respondents, on the other hand, 
provided qualitative inputs that may corroborate the quantitative findings.  Will 
transformational leadership influence carrying out good corporate governance?  What factors 
or dimensions of transformational leadership can aid in this process?  Results of the interview 
provided fresh insights to the questions this research is attempting to answer and/or to provide 
direction on future research. 

Saunders et al. (2010) in his discussion on the use of mixed methods research, cited 
the works of Tashakkori and Teddlie (2003) who posited that multiple methods are 
advantageous if they create better opportunities for the researcher to answer the questions 
and allow evaluation of the extent of validity of findings. 

I employed a mixed methods approach for data collection and analysis. According to 
Creswell (2009), there are several mixed methods models and for the purposes of this research, 
I made use of the concurrent triangulation approach. Quantitative and qualitative data were 
collected concurrently in one or two interview sessions depending on the availability of the 
Directors.   

Upon completion of the data set, analysis of data was done separately since the 
methodology of each is different.  The results from both were compared to determine if there 
is convergence, difference, or some combination.  Triangulation was used to corroborate 
research findings. 
 

Measurement and Instrumentation 

A questionnaire was specifically designed for this study.  Perceptions of directors were 
used to measure the constructs.  The use of perception in conducting scientific research has 
produced a sizeable amount of literature.  I cite the work of Heider (1944) who argued for the 
relationship between social perception and phenomenal causality, stated that an 
environmental change derives its context from the source to which it is attributed.  According 
to Jussim (1991), much of social psychological theorizing and research is based on the belief 
that social perception is a major force in creating social reality.  In a study by Boyd, Dess, and 
Rasheed (1993), two factors were identified, namely the level of analysis and the mediating 
filters in explaining both causes and consequences of divergence between archival and 
perceptual measures of the environment. 

One of the more contentious issues of perceptual studies is bias.  Miller and Ross 
(1975) argued that the literature provides support that individuals engage in self-enhancing 
attributions under conditions of success and only little evidence was suggested that individuals 
engage in self-protective attributions under the conditions of failure.  In anticipation and 
addressing of bias for this study, the detailed processes of the interview must be handled with 
care to recognize and avoid interviewer and interviewee biases.  According to Saunders et al. 
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(2010), participating in an interview is an intrusive process; therefore preparation for the 
interview process must be given thoughtful consideration to strengthen its validity and 
reliability.   

The survey questions on the independent variable were based on Bass and Riggio’s 
(2006) four dimensions of transformational leadership behavior. The statements attempt to 
assess the directors’ perception of their CEO transformational leadership behavior. 

The survey questions on the dependent variable were adapted from the principles of 
Corporate Governance of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) 
with particular emphasis on Principle No. 6: Responsibilities of the board (OECD, 2008). 

Statements on CEO pressure on directors on firm profitability as a moderating variable 
were developed by the researcher based on various discussions with directors prior to 
questionnaire development to measure the strength of the relationship of the dependent and 
independent variable. 
 

Results 

Results from this mixed methods research provided answers to the research questions 
and allowed for the evaluation and validity of findings.  Both quantitative and qualitative 
findings showed that transformational leadership positively influences good corporate 
governance, and that CEO pressure on directors on firm profitability has no moderating effect 
on the relationship between transformational leadership and good corporate governance.   
 

Quantitative results 

Results show that the multiple linear regression model is fit (ANOVA p = 0.001).  All the 
assumptions were met.  Based on the regression model, only transformational leadership 
(independent variable) predicts good corporate governance (dependent variable). CEO pressure 
on directors on firm profitability (moderating variable) has no effect on good corporate 
governance nor does it influence the relationship between the independent and dependent 
variables. 

 
Table 1. Regression equation coefficients   
Model Coefficient SE t p VIF 
Intercept .995 .928 1.072 .294  
x1 .699 .161 4.349 .000 1.293 
x2 .078 .107 .728 .473 1.455 
x1x2 -.037 .064 -.582 .566 1.481 
R2 = .449 SE = .30471   
 

Table 2. ANOVA 
Model Sum of Squares df Mean Square F p 
Regression 1.969 3 .656 7.070 .001b 
Residual  2.414 26 .093   
Total   4.383 29       
 

The proposed regression model for this study is: 
Y = 0.995 + 0.699x1 + 0.078x2 – 0.037x1x2  (1) 

 
where:    
0.995 = intercept 
0.699 = linear effect of x1  
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0.078 = linear effect of x2  
– 0.037 = moderator effect of x2 on x1   
Y = dependent variable (good corporate governance) 
x1 = independent variable (transformational leadership) 
x2 = independent variable (CEO pressure on directors on firm profitability) 
 
Hypothesis 1 – H1: Transformational leadership positively influences good corporate 
governance. The coefficient x1 (transformational leadership):  For every increase of one level in 
transformational leadership, there is a corresponding increase of 0.699 in the good corporate 
governance scores (p < 0.001).  This implies that the more transformational the CEO is with his 
leadership style; the practice of good corporate governance is enhanced. 

In order to ascertain the direct relationship between transformational leadership and 
good corporate governance, I used a simple linear regression model (2) with one independent 
variable, x1 = transformational leadership and Y = good corporate governance.   The resulting 
regression model is: 

 
Y = 1.517 + 0.642x1    (2) 

 
where:    
1.517 = intercept 
0.642 = linear effect of x1 
Y = dependent variable (good corporate governance) 
x1 = independent variable (transformational leadership) 
 
Table 3. Regression equation coefficients  

Model Coefficient  SE t p 
Intercept 1.517 0.613 2.474 0.020 
x1 0.642 0.138 4.661 0.000 
R2 = .437  SE = .2969  
 
Table 4. ANOVA 

Model Sum of 
Squares df Mean 

Square F p 

Regression 1.915 1 1.915 21.721 0.000 
Residual  2.468 28 0.088   
Total  4.383 29    

 

The coefficient of determination (R2) for this simple regression model has decreased to 
0.437 (from the previous multiple regression model (1) where R2 = 0.449) but the decrease is 
very small.  In this model (2), we may infer that transformational leadership positively 
influences good corporate governance.   Specifically, from the model we can say that 43.7% of 
the total variation in good corporate governance is due to transformational leadership.   The 
linear model is also fit because its ANOVA is p < 0.001. 

Figure 3 shows the linear relationship between transformational leadership and good 
corporate governance: 
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Figure 3. Linear relationship between transformational leadership and good corporate 
governance  
 

Hypotheses 2 and 3. Presentation of H2 and H3 are discussed together because the results 
showed that the moderating variable CEO pressure on directors on firm profitability has no 
effect on good corporate governance and therefore has no bearing on the relationship between 
the independent and dependent variables (transformational leadership and good corporate 
governance).  
 
H2: Transformational leadership positively influences good corporate governance if directors 
are not pressured by the CEO on firm profitability. The results showed that if directors are not 
pressured by the CEO on firm profitability, transformational leadership positively influences 
good corporate governance which makes the statement above true.  However, even with the 
presence of CEO pressure on directors on firm profitability, directors are not affected or 
influenced by CEO pressure on firm profitability in their practice of good corporate governance; 
therefore, I cannot reject the null statement.    

In order to answer shed light on this question, a simple regression model (3) is shown 
below to ascertain if CEO pressure on firm profitability influences good corporate governance: 
 

Y = 4.635 – 0.084x1    (3) 
 
where:  
4.635 = Intercept 
– 0.084 = linear effect of x1 

Y = dependent variable (good corporate governance) 
x1 = independent variable (CEO pressure on directors on firm profitability) 
 

Table 5. Regression equation coefficients 
Model Coefficient SE t p 
Intercept 4.635 .354 13.076 .000 
CEO pressure on directors on firm profitability -.084 .108 -0.779 .443 
R2 = 0.021 SE = .3914   
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Table 6. ANOVA 

Model Sum of 
Squares df 

Mean 
Square F p 

Regression 0.093 1 0.093 0.607 0.443a 
Residual 4.290 28 0.153   
Total 4.383 29       

 
The previous model (3) shows a very low R2 (0.021) as well as a poor fit for linearity (p 

= 0.443).  This implies that good corporate governance is not directly influenced by CEO 
pressure on directors on firm profitability. 

Figure 4 shows the relationship between good corporate governance and CEO 
pressure on directors on firm profitability is non-linear.  CEO pressure on directors on firm 
profitability may be high or low and the corresponding practice of good corporate governance 
is likewise either high or low. This therefore means that there is no relationship between the 
two variables.   

 
H3: CEO pressure on directors on firm profitability is a moderating influence on good 
corporate governance. Since the p-values for x1x2 (moderating effect of CEO pressure on 
directors on firm profitability) and x2 (CEO pressure on directors on firm profitability) are both 
greater than 0.05, their coefficients are not statistically significant from zero, meaning they 
both do not influence good corporate governance.  This implies that the CEO pressure on the 
directors on firm profitability does not influence their perception and practice of good 
corporate governance. 

In the multiple regression model (1), R2 is 0.449. This means that approximately 45 
percent of the total variation in Y (good corporate governance) is explained by the linear 
correlation between x1 (transformational leadership), x2 (CEO pressure) and x1x2 (the 
moderating effect of CEO pressure on transformational leadership). 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 4. Non-linear relationship between CEO pressure on directors on profitability and good 
corporate governance 
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Qualitative Results 

The method used for coding the data in this study is hypothesis coding. The responses 
gathered from the director interviews were content-analyzed through a pre-determined list of 
codes developed from a theory about what will be found in the data. 

Transformational leadership. CEO leadership style was described by the respondents 
through their description of their CEO leadership behavior in various situations.  The codes 
were categorized into the four dimensions, which was contextually themed as transformational 
leadership, as theorized by Bass (1985). 

CEO transactional behavior was reflected in two of the cases and one particular outlier 
case reflected a dysfunctional type of leadership as narrated by the respondent. This particular 
case where CEO leadership behavior is considered by the respondent as tyrannical may be a 
basis for future research.  
 
Table 7. Coding for interview results 
Code Category Theme 
Open communications                                           
Listens to suggestions                                            
Caring attitude                                                          
Attends to employee needs                                
Situational leadership                                                  
Open door policy   
Encourages creativity                                            
Delegates the work                                                
Nurtures and develops employees                    
Demands employees to do more                  
Implementing necessary changes  
Motivates employees                                                  
Source of inspiration                                                       
Sets objectives clearly                                         
Charismatic attribute                                          
Knowledge of the business 
Setting good example                                        
Leadership from the top                                             
Doing the right thing                                              
Emulates the leader                                                         
Plays fair                                                                   
Religious                                                                       
Serving others 
Authoritative                                                                   
Quick to decide without thorough 
consultation       
Provides financial rewards 
Instills fear with staff                              
Unapproachable                                                     
Uncaring attitude                                                               
No concern for employees                                     
Difficult personality 

Individualized Consideration 
 
 
Intellectual  
Stimulation 
 
 
Inspirational Motivation 
 
 
Idealized Influence 
 
 
 
 
 
Following rules               
Centralized decision making              
Reward for efforts and/or 
from productivity 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Transformational 
leadership 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Transactional leadership 
                                      
 
Dysfunctional leadership 
 
 

 

Good corporate governance. The respondents described good corporate governance 
from their actual practice and how they think it is implemented in their respective 
organizations. The ensuing codes were categorized into the board roles as presented by 
Nicholson and Newton (2010), which was then the basis for the thematic good corporate 
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governance.  These roles of the board reflect the responsibilities of the board by the OECD 
(2008) and which is part of my conceptual framework. 
 
Table 8. Coding for corporate governance 
Code Category Theme 

Following the rules                                                
Ensuring policy implementation                          
Producing profit for the company                      
Achieving same organizational goals                                    
Managing business well                              
Sustainability                                                                  
Fear of punishment                                                       
Strict compliance 
Transparency                                                        
Inculcating proper values                               
Stakeholder protection                                               
Welfare of employees                                                     
Good leadership                                                         
Integrity                                                                     
Religious conviction 
Strategy formulation 
Wealth of experience  

Control 
 
 
 
 
 
Accountability 
 
 
 
Strategy 
Service 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Good corporate 
governance 

 

CEO pressure as a moderating influence on transformational leadership and good 

corporate governance. Responses from this question were direct answers from the participants 
if the pressure they receive from their CEO on firm profitability affects their practice of good 
governance.  As with the quantitative findings, CEO pressure on directors on firm profitability 
does not influence good corporate governance. 

There was only one respondent who stated in confidence, without going into specific 
details on that particular instance where her practice of good governance was compromised 
due to a financial problem she was faced at that time. 

 
Table 9. Cross tabulation of moderating influence, CEO pressure and CEO duality 
Pressure/Duality Moderating influence No moderating 

influence 
Total 

CEO pressure/CEO duality 1 11 12 
CEO pressure/No CEO duality 0 5 5 
No CEO pressure/CEO duality 0 9 9 
No CEO pressure/No CEO 
duality 

0 4 4 

Total 1 29 30 
 
Hypothesis 1 - H1: Transformational leadership positively influences good corporate 
governance. All of the respondents (100 percent or 30/30) affirm that their CEO leadership 
influences their perception of good governance.  The thematic context of CEO transformational 
leadership supports this hypothesis, that transformational leadership positively influences good 
corporate governance.  The qualitative result corroborates the quantitative findings for this 
hypothesis. 
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Hypotheses 2 and 3. Presentation of H2 and H3 are discussed together because the direct 
responses from the participants showed that the moderating variable CEO pressure on 
directors on firm profitability has no effect on good corporate governance and therefore has no 
bearing on the relationship between the independent and dependent variables 
(transformational leadership and good corporate governance).  
 
H2: Transformational leadership positively influences good corporate governance if directors 
are not pressured by the CEO on firm profitability. A total of 57 percent (17/30) of respondents 
stated that they feel direct pressure from their CEO on firm profitability while 43% (13/30) of 
respondents stated that they do not receive pressure from their CEO on firm profitability.  This 
corroborates the quantitative results that if directors are not pressured by the CEO on firm 
profitability, transformational leadership positively influences good corporate governance 
which makes the statement above true.  However again, even with the presence of CEO 
pressure on directors on firm profitability, directors are not affected or influenced by CEO 
pressure on firm profitability in their practice of good corporate governance therefore we 
cannot reject the null statement.    
 
H3: CEO pressure on directors on firm profitability is a moderating influence on good 
corporate governance. A total of 97 percent  (29/30) of respondents stated that regardless of 
whether they receive CEO pressure on firm profitability or not, CEO pressure on directors on 
firm profitability has no effect on their perception of good corporate governance. This 
corroborates the quantitative findings that CEO pressure on directors on firm profitability does 
not influence their perception and practice of good corporate governance.  However, this single 
case (representing 3% (1/30) from the data corpus from the qualitative results contradicted 
majority of the findings.  This is an area worth looking into for future research. 

 
DISCUSSION 

 

Transformational and transactional leadership continuum 

Transformational leadership was pioneered by Burns (1978). He described it as the 
type in which “leaders and followers raise one another to higher levels of motivation and 
morality” (p. 20). Transforming leadership, as he first termed it, converts followers into leaders 
and leaders into moral agents. He distinguished between two types of leadership – 
transactional and transformational, in which transactional leadership focuses on an exchange of 
productivity for a reward, that is productivity can be achieved by giving rewards, and no 
productivity can mean withdrawal of rewards or benefits (Bass & Riggio, 2006).  

Similar to the comparison between agency and stewardship theories, transactional 
and transformational leadership also exist on the same continuum (Bass, 2008), where 
transformational leadership is at the highest level of the leadership continuum (Bass & Riggio, 
2006) and those qualities of transactional leadership must be manifested to provide the proper 
context for effective leadership (Goodwin, Wofford, & Whittington, 2001). An instance in our 
sample reflected this. According to ED5, “We all work harder because we all know that at the 
end of the day, it helps us; our organization grows. It also helps to grow our dividends and 
patronage funds.” This statement showed the merging of extrinsic motivation (grow our 
dividends and patronage funds), which is a characteristic of transactional leadership, and 
intrinsic motivation (our organization grows), which is akin to transformational leadership.  The 
results of this study validates the study made by Goodwin et at (2001) that linked 
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transformational leadership with contingent rewards, which is a key dimension of transactional 
leadership.   

Leadership occurs when both leadership and followership are present and recognized, 
and may it be in dyadic, group, or strategic level (Avolio, Sosik, Jung, & Berson, 2003). While the 
spotlight was focused on the effectivity of transformational leadership in bringing about 
performance (Avolio et al., 1988; Bass, 1985; Bass & Riggio, 2006; Goodwin et al., 2011), 
organizational commitment and success (Goodwin et al., 2011; Valdiserri & Wilson, 2010), job 
satisfaction (Bass et al., 1987), and profitability (Waldman et al., 2001; Valdiserri & Wilson, 
2010) are also critical. However, for transformational leadership to be effective, Pawar and 
Eastman (1997) proposed that leaders should confront, reshape, or harness organizational 
contexts, in order to increase organizational receptivity, or members’ reception to the 
transformational leader’s vision and attempts to align them to the vision. The transformational 
leader has to retool internal organizational contexts such as organizational orientation, 
organizational task system, organizational structure, and mode of governance for the 
leadership to gain followership. This could perhaps account for why transformational leadership 
would work or fail in different circumstances.  

 
Four dimensions of transformational leadership 

In the transformational leadership literature, there were four dimensions identified, 
which characterizes transformational leadership behavior. These are: idealized influence, which 
provides vision and a sense of purpose, and elicits respect, trust, and confidence from 
followers; inspirational motivation, increases optimism and enthusiasm, communicates high 
expectations, points out possibilities not previously considered; intellectual stimulation, actively 
encourages a new look at old methods, stimulates creativity, and encourages others to look at 
problems and issues in a new way; and individualized consideration, gives personal attention to 
others, making each individual feel uniquely valued (Bass & Riggio, 2006; Bass & Steidlmeier, 
1999; Brown & Reilly, 2008; Bruch & Walter, 2007; Hinkin & Tracey, 1999; Kark, Gilad, & 
Shamir, 2003; Nielsen & Munir, 2009; Sarros & Santora, 2001). 

Of the four dimensions, idealized influence or charisma seemed to receive much 
attention in literature. Bruch and Walter (2007) found that idealized influence and inspirational 
motivation were the most identified transformational leadership behaviors present among the 
upper managers than middle managers they studied, with job satisfaction as the dependent 
variable.   

Hinkin and Tracey (1999) propounded the thesis that charismatic leadership emerges 
at a time of crisis, as was true during political or religious upheavals. The study of Waldman et 
al. (2001) also showed that the connection between top managers and firm outcomes would 
depend on the managers’ charismatic leadership, but only during a period of crisis.  

Expecting idealized influence to come up in a business setting and in a period of 
stability seemed unrealistic. Charisma, for example, was found to be irrelevant during times of 
organizational stability (Hinkin & Tracey, 1999).  Majority of the EDs interviewed belong to 
companies which are seeing a period of growth and stability. This perhaps accounted for the 
“lower” turnout of inspirational motivation and idealized influence (dimensions more coherent 
with charismatic leadership) among the respondents. Respondents identified individualized 
consideration as the most apparent transformational leadership behavior in the qualitative 
interviews. The result of my study was not consistent with what the literature would commonly 
identify as the dominant transformational leadership dimension. This may be due to the 
Filipino’s concept of kapwa (others), which Virgilio Enriquez, father of Filipino Psychology, 
identified as the core concept underlying Filipino interpersonal behaviors. Kapwa is like a 
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shared identity with others (Church & Katigbak, 2002). This may have accounted for 
individualized consideration as primary transformational leadership behavior, rooted in the 
Filipino’s notion of the other, one of which sparks genuine concern.  

Apart from extending the literature on transformational leadership, specifically on the 
transformational and transactional leadership continuum and the dimensional aspect of 
transformational leadership in a cultural context, my study was able to establish the link 
between transformational leadership and good corporate governance. 

 
GOOD CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

 

Role of boards  

Strategy. The Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD, 2008) 
provides the guidelines on how organizations may practice good governance. In this paper, I 
have defined good corporate governance as the performance of the responsibilities of the 
board. The OECD in Principle 6, responsibilities of the board, outlined those duties, which can 
be summed up in three major themes—strategy, control and accountability (Eckhart, 2006; 
Macey, 2008; Nicholson & Newton, 2010; OECD, 2008; Tricker, 2009). The other role of service 
(Carver & Oliver, 2002; Nicholson & Newton, 2010; Tricker, 2009) was derived from other 
literature.  

Of these roles, the board’s participation in strategy formulation and implementation is 
among those most discussed in literature. A review conducted by Pugliese, Bezemer, Zattoni, 
Huse, Van den Bosch, and Volberda (2009) identified the dominant themes on the contribution 
of boards to strategy per period. Period 1 (1972-1989) featured conceptual and empirical 
papers defining the extent of board participation in strategy. Period 2 (1990-2000) focused on 
empirical articles exploring the determinants and consequences of board strategic involvement. 
Period 3 (2001-2007) showcased empirical articles centered on boards’ participation in strategic 
decision-making, while still being dominated by the input-output studies of Period 2.  

This research was consistent with the dominant theme of Period 3, while little 
frequencies were noted, the directors made contributions to the strategy whenever these were 
mentioned. The study of Hendry and Kiel (2004) was also in line with the theme of Period 3. 
Also, another characteristic of Period 3 was the use of multi-theoretical approach, which in 
their study combined organizational control and agency theories. Their study advocated for an 
active school of thought for strategy making which states that boards are independent thinkers 
who shape strategies in their organization. They posited strategy as control mechanism beyond 
reducing divergence of interests, but also as a means of shaping mission and vision, regulating 
capacity for innovation and entrepreneurship, and initiating change when necessary.  

Strategy was rarely mentioned by the EDs in their practice of good corporate 
governance. The EDs who mentioned about strategy talked about their involvement as 
initiators of corporate planning and review of implementation of programs, whether these are 
still aligned with the strategy. The strategy role can be setting the goals, values, and direction 
on one end, to approving, monitoring, and reviewing on the other (Nicholson & Newton, 2010). 
ED11 mentioned initiating a “business continuity plan, taking note of all possible negative 
occurrence that we can encounter and for each of these, we list company mitigating actions.” 
This description is consistent with the active school of thought in strategy making, where 
boards actively participate in drawing up strategies. However, as the active school 
acknowledges this level of involvement, research also showed that this could pose a dilemma 
between setting and monitoring strategic direction and executing strategies on an operational 
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level (Hendry & Kiel, 2004). This could be the case if directors are insiders, as was the situation 
of the interview participants.  

The literature provided little attention to executive directors (O’Toole, 2006). 
However, some authors did point out the advantages of executive directors on board. A study 
by Masulis and Mobbs (2011) proposed that the firm-specific knowledge offered by inside 
directors is critical for board monitoring and decision-making. In their study, the authors found 
that inside directors who also hold outside directorship in unaffiliated firms were associated 
with higher firm performance, as well as better board decision-making. Thus, these inside 
directors with outside directorships were concluded to elevate board monitoring and help 
prevent CEO entrenchment. 

Meanwhile, Nicholson and Kiel (2007) also made the same claim about the advantage 
of inside directors as knowing the company intimately and having superior access to 
information. This asset helps in informed decision-making. The study was ascertaining the 
relationship between directors and performance, using three theoretical lenses. Under 
stewardship theory, the assumption was that majority of the board members are insiders and 
they will “naturally work to maximize profits for shareholders” (p.588), which consequently 
leads to superior corporate performance. However, this assertion was not supported in their 
study. In my own research, however, inside or executive directors are beneficial to superior 
corporate performance as illustrated in the statement of ED11, “Good governance means good 
management, so good management, good governance can only contribute positively.” 

Accountability. Literature on Asian or Philippine corporate governance focused on 
control, transparency and accountability, or the lack of these facets, owing to the structure of 
ownership, which is family-based (Echanis, 2006; Iu & Batten, 2001; Kabigting, 2011; Saldaña, 
1999). Transparency, a key feature of accountability in corporate governance literature (Eckart, 
2006; Macey, 2008; Nicholson & Newton, 2010; OECD, 2008; Tricker, 2009), which were 
projected negatively in literature (Echanis, 2006; Iu & Batten, 2001; Kabigting, 2011; Saldaña, 
1999) but gained positive light in my study. A weakness of corporate governance in family-
owned structure can be found in transparency because disclosure is not a feature of 
relationship-based transaction environment (Iu & Batten, 2001).  

In the study, two respondents were part of family corporations, in which one was 
moving away from the traditional family corporation mold. Case in point, ED18 described this 
transition, as “we’re now professional”. These two corporations did not fit the description by 
(Iu & Batten, 2001) and debunked their position because my respondents from family 
corporations exercised a high level of transparency. ED18 said, “We’re professionals already 
and we’re in accordance now with the policy which makes it easier for good governance. If we 
don’t follow the policies, then we’re not leading in good governance.” ED24 further supported 
this when she said, “Process is process…It’s so easy to cut corners if it’s a family business, so all 
the more [good governance] is needed.”  

All executive directors in the sample belong to the top private corporations in Metro 
Manila, but are not publicly listed. Transparency was regarded as cornerstone of accountability 
to the company and to other stakeholders. For example, ED28 said, “Transparency is number 
one. You have to deliver your responsibilities in a way that you should be practicing honesty. 
Responsibility is very important… towards the stockholders, the stakeholders, and of course to 
the people, the staff, your peers, and the officers.” 

Jamali, Safieddine, and Rabbath (2008) regarded corporate governance as concerned 
with honesty and transparency, which are expected of companies to gain investor confidence 
and market efficiency, as well as earn employee trust and commitment. As a matter of fact, 
their article also propounded that companies are slowly inching towards performance 



Asia Pacific Business & Economics Perspectives, 2(1), Summer 2014 

 

29  

evaluation including not only financial terms but also long-term social, environmental and 
economic impacts. They stressed the link between corporate governance as an internal process 
and corporate social responsibility as the outward counterpart. “CG was generally conceived as 
establishing a basic framework of stewardship and trusteeship, CSR was conceived as the 
outward expression or manifestation of internal CG policies and principles” (p. 457). In other 
words, based on Jamali and colleagues’ (2008) study, a solid CG mechanism should be in place 
for CSR to genuinely work for the company. 

While my study did not touch on CSR, it should be noted that the directors interviewed 
were conscious of good CG practices to contribute to performance that will benefit their 
stakeholders. Under stewardship theory, directors behave in a way that serves the collective, 
using corporate performance such that they also gain or serve their own interest without 
having to take advantage of the principal or other stakeholders (Davis et al., 1997). From our 
results, ED5 shared, “The organization’s mission is to help improve the quality of life of the 
contractual workers… is simply effectivity, accountability, transparency, and most of all genuine 
concern for our members.”  ED21 emphasized, “Governance is basically doing what is right, not 
sacrificing the quality… you don’t shortchange your investors. You pay the right taxes, you have 
responsibility over the people, over your investors, over your customers.”  

 
Transformational leadership and corporate governance nexus 

Certain parallelisms exist between the study of transformational leadership and 
corporate governance but both are conceptually distinctive from each other.  While the subject 
of transactional and transformational leadership is based on behavioral aspects of leadership, 
the study of corporate governance is based on the assumption of the principal/agent 
relationship.  Transformational leadership behavior, therefore, may influence good corporate 
governance through the principal/agent perspective of stewardship.  For example, if the CEO is 
transformational and inspires the EDs to act in a similar manner, then it behooves both parties 
to align their objectives that which supports proposition no. 9 by Davis et al. (1997) whereby 
potential performance of the firm is maximized if a mutual stewardship relationship exists. 
 

Shared governance 

The positive relationship of transformational leadership and good corporate 
governance may be gleaned in the shared governance process put forward by Gardiner (2006). 
He identified six characteristics of shared governance, to wit: (1) a climate of trust (integrity, 
consistency between words and deeds); (2) information sharing (disclosure of data necessary 
for decision making; (3) meaningful participation (broad involvement in all aspects of decision 
making and planning; (4) collective decision making (moving toward group consent); (5) 
protecting divergent views (valuing, nurturing alternative perspectives; and (6) redefining roles 
(all members are leaders) (p. 66). 
 
Table 10. Relationship of transformational leadership and good corporate governance  
Shared Governance Dimensions of Transformational 

Leadership 

Good Corporate Governance  

A climate of trust Idealized influence 
Inspirational motivation 

Accountability 

Information sharing Individualized consideration Accountability 
Meaningful participation Inspirational motivation Control 
Collective decision making Inspirational motivation Control 
Protecting divergent views  Intellectual stimulation Control 
Redefining roles Inspirational motivation Accountability 
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In reference to these characteristics, four dimensions of transformational leadership, 
and the conception of good corporate governance are related through the performance of 
board roles.  

Pawar and Eastman (1997) studied the organizational contexts in which 
transformational leadership would gain greater organizational receptivity, or acceptance from 
followers of a transformational leader’s vision and prompting for alignment to the same vision. 
One of the organizational contexts was the mode of governance. Of the three modes, namely 
market, bureaucratic, and clan, the clan mode of governance would be more receptive to 
transformational leadership. The study recognized that organization members are likely to 
pursue self-interest, but under clan mode, it would be more inclined to see an alignment 
between their own and the organization. “In this mode, individuals are still self-interested, but 
they believe they can attain their goals by working towards the collective interests” (p. 97). This 
assertion is consistent with assumptions of stewardship perspective where the attainment of 
organizational goal in effect meets one’s own.  

The authors have a word of caution though. While this finding may show the context 
by which transformational leadership may enjoy receptivity, it will still depend on the leader on 
how to “retool, reshape, or harness” this context. So even when literature has supported the 
positive effects of transformational leadership, which is at the highest of the leadership 
continuum, it does not mean that it will work all the time. Based on their study, it will take 
more than just the exercise of the four dimensions; the contexts should also be considered to 
ensure higher receptivity. And to ensure this, a leader’s context must be grounded in a 
deontological perspective. 
 

Ethics as foundation  

In the existing literature, transformational leadership was often linked with 
performance (Avolio et al., 1988; Bass, 1985; Bass & Riggio, 2006; Goodwin et al., 2011), 
organizational commitment and success (Goodwin et al., 2011; Valdiserri & Wilson, 2010), job 
satisfaction (Bass et al., 1987), and profitability (Valdiserri & Wilson, 2010). This study has 
proposed the positive relationship between transformational leadership and good corporate 
governance, and has established this link. This is my contribution to the literature on 
transformational leadership and corporate governance.  

The positive relationship between transformational leadership good corporate 
governance can be rationalized by moral or ethical underpinnings. The ethics or morality link 
binds the two variables.  

Burns (1978) asserted, “the result of a transforming leadership is a relationship of 
mutual stimulation and elevation that converts followers into leaders and may convert leaders 
into moral agents” (p.4). He identified three principles of moral leadership: (1) the moral leader 
engages followers in a meaningful shared purpose; (2) this purpose is morally elevating; and (3) 
the moral leader is successful in delivering this elevating common purpose in practice 
(Springett, 2004, p. 299). Bass and Steidlmeier (1999), meanwhile, stressed the distinction 
between authentic transformational and pseudo-transformational leadership, which lies in the 
presence or absence of a “moral foundation of the leader as a moral agent” (p. 178).  

Kanugo (2001) categorized transformational leadership as ethical in motive, value, and 
assumptions. Based on a deontological perspective which judges a leader’s action to have 
intrinsic moral values, a transformational leader’s motivation is characterized by genuine or 
moral altruism (a leader’s helping concern for other prompted by a sense of duty towards 
others without regard for self-interest), values akin to the norm of social responsibility (an 
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internalized belief of a moral obligation to help others without expecting any personal benefit, 
assumptions or self-concept typify an allocentric self-concept (socio-centric and mainly 
concerned with protecting the interest of the group knowing that the personal and group 
interests are one). 

Jamali et al. (2008) viewed corporate governance as an internal process of keeping 
with laws and tenets of ethics, fairness, and transparency. The OECD Principles of Corporate 
Governance (2008), in its Responsibilities of the Board, stated that the board should apply “high 
ethical standards”  (p.116). The qualitative results of my study strongly supported the role of 
ethics as foundation that is necessary for good corporate governance. As a practical implication, 
ethics provides the ground for transformational leadership and good corporate governance to 
flourish.  Also, to help ensure better corporate governance, director appointments may need to 
be based on the candidate’s ability to understand the behavioral complexity of corporate 
governance and its effective implementation. 

 

CEO PRESSURE ON PROFITABILITY 

 

Profit maximization and stress 

Tricker (2009) stated that a board’s first responsibility is to its shareholders. Economic 
theory pushes profit maximization as the highest goal of an executive (Luque et al., 2008). 
Under profit maximization scheme or shareholder-wealth-maximizing model, profit is the most 
important and ultimate criterion for decision-making and is the super ordinate goal of an 
organization (Luque et al., 2008; Tourigny et al., 2003). Bennett (2002) viewed this perspective 
as the unyielding pressure to keep earning and revenues growing at a rapid rate.  

For any corporation, it is but natural to seek profits as no one seeks to go into business 
to lose money. The interviews with EDs revealed that they do feel the pressure for profitability 
for a number of reasons, such as paying for business expenses, taking care of the welfare of 
employees, and ensuring the viability of the company.  

Literature on profit maximization discussed the pressure on profitability as making 
decisions in favor of pragmatic and utilitarian concerns over principled decisions benefitting all 
stakeholders, and inducing questionable decision making and behavior (Tourigny et al., 2003). 
In the words of Bennett (2002), the effect of this pressure is neglecting corporate social 
responsibility practices. It can be recalled that Jamali et al. (2008) discussed corporate social 
responsibility as being based on a solid internal governance mechanism founded on ethics, 
fairness, and transparency. By logical conclusion, neglecting one’s corporate social 
responsibility would be tantamount to having a weak governance structure lacking any or all of 
those three ideals. 

While the pressure experienced by EDs seemed to be classified as regular occupational 
stress or the perception of a discrepancy between environmental demands and the individual 
capacities to meet them (Ongori & Agolla, 2008), the pressure goes deeper as it questions the 
morality of the person. The stress of the EDs were related to ends that were considered for the 
good of others, which in the deontological perspective of ethics, entailed actions which are 
allocentric or where the self is linked to a collectivity such as an organization. “The allocentric 
‘we’ self orientation of the leader is mainly concerned with protecting the interests of the 
group, knowing that his/her own interests and the group interests are inseparable” (Kanugo, 
2001). The pressure felt by the EDS, however not related to compromising one’s integrity to 
conduct themselves unethically for profit, was actually a question of ethics.  

The study also found that the pressure was not a moderator for the relationship 
between transformational leadership and corporate governance. For occupational stress, the 
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answer could be as easy as adopting optimism through higher leader engagement (Courtright, 
Colbert, & Choi, 2014) or reframing stressful work conditions as meaningful and offering 
opportunities for growth as in the case of high hardy leaders (Bartone, 2006). Perhaps 
confidence or experience would also help in coping, as when one gains high self-efficacy to 
handle difficulties on the job (Jex & Gudanowski, 1992). 

The answer why the CEO pressure on profitability had no effect on the relationship 
between transformational leadership and good corporate governance is the character of the 
EDs as authentic transformational leaders, or leaders grounded on strong moral foundations. So 
we could only allude to the EDs’ transformational leadership through their own perceptions of 
it. Jussim (1991) stated that much of the psychological theorizing and research is based on the 
premise that social perception is a major force in creating social reality. It is also possible that 
the executive directors were influenced by their CEOs who they regard as transformational. An 
example is a statement from ED23, “That is what I learned from my boss, to be generous with 
your staff, learn to work with others, be good to your employees and at the same time to your 
co members of the board.” Another example is a statement from ED29, “We tend to copy him. 
If you see he’s dedicated and headstrong to the things that he wants to achieve, somehow you 
tend to follow because the good habits also influence people.” Bass and Steidlmeier (1999) 
described the authentic transformational leader as one who calls for universal brotherhood, 
whose inspiration is characterized by inward and outward concern about the good for the 
group, organization or society, helps followers generate more creative solutions to problems, 
and concerned about developing their followers into leaders.  The pressure dilemma, in this 
study, was a question of ethics and answered by the same ethical foundation lived by the 
transformational leader. 
 

CONCLUSION 

 
In this exploratory study, I have established the positive link between transformational 
leadership and good corporate governance. Previous researches have only established the 
relationship between transformational leadership and performance (Avolio et al., 1988; 
Goodwin et al., 2011; Valdiserri & Wilson, 2010).  This study showed that CEO pressure on EDs 
on firm profitability does not affect the relationship between transformational leadership and 
good corporate governance and only fortified the importance of the consequences of 
transformational leadership in organizational behavior.   

As much as this paper provided fresh insights on transformational leadership and good 
corporate governance, this research has a number of limitations.  The results of this study come 
from a small sample (30 private companies) and did not include other types of corporations.  
While the results cannot be generalized, the richness of the qualitative data provided context as 
to how EDs interpret the reality that they are in.  My research also challenges the hegemony of 
agency theory as the leading model in corporate governance and expands on the stewardship 
perspective in further understanding corporate governance through transformational 
leadership. Studying corporate governance under the lens of stewardship should be 
encouraged further, specifically when leadership of the board is to be scrutinized. This is the 
most significant contribution of this paper to business research and to academe. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 

 
The role most identified by the EDs focused on control and accountability. A reason was offered 
by a study by O’Shannassy (2010), in which he said that the modern role of the board of 
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directors in strategy making is limited and that the strategy comes from the CEO and top 
management. In his study based on interviews with a chairman, executive chairman, company 
directors and CEOs, top managers, and internal and external consultants, the board is expected 
to question and criticize the strategy proposals and should change management if the members 
are not satisfied with strategy developed by management. 

Future studies could elucidate the role of the board in strategy making and 
implementation. Are these roles limited to an agency view by which the board takes passive 
involvement in strategy making by serving as rubber stamps or by approving body of strategies 
in the organization or monitors the alignment of management decisions to strategy (Brauer & 
Schmidt, 2007)? What role would the board undertake in strategy under the stewardship view 
of governance? 

One of the major functions of an ED is management of a certain department or area 
within the organization and their focus is on strategizing their area of responsibility. This 
somehow lessens their focus on the company’s overall strategic planning and because of their 
dual role as an executive manager and as a board member, extenuates it. 

The upside of transformational leadership is that it steers the company into the right 
direction when leaders motivate their subordinates, encourage their creativity and align their 
vision with that of the company. However, transformational leadership has its dark side, too. 
The Madisonian model (named after James Madison, among the framers of the US 
Constitution) runs in contrast to transformational leadership (Keeley, 2004). It acknowledges 
that people have differences and varied wants. The Madisonian model noted that 
transformational leadership’s ideal of having followers give in to the higher ideals of the 
organization at the expense of their own is something difficult to accomplish in real life. The 
common goal, general interest, public good can be deemed as theoretical concepts. In reality, 
these mean differently to different groups. He begged the question: will the common interest 
or that of the majority not be harmful to the interest of the minority? Truth is, unless a 
common goal is unanimously desired, there will always be a contest between what the majority 
and the minority pursue.  

In contrast to transformational leadership, in which followers are elevated to pursue 
common organizational goals, he proposed that legislation, rules, contracts be put in place to 
govern different groups and put in check their pursuit of self-interests.  

The unanticipated results from both the qualitative and quantitative results provide a 
fertile ground for future research on both transformational leadership and good corporate 
governance.   

From the quantitative findings, research may be done on the moderating effect of CEO 
duality as a factor between the dependent and independent variables (good corporate 
governance and transformational leadership, respectively).  What are the implications of CEO 
duality in the perception and practice of EDs in good corporate governance?  What will the 
implications are if the subject of the survey and interviews are done with EDs of publicly listed 
corporations? 

The subject of religion (in this research referring to the Catholic faith) was extracted 
from the qualitative interviews, as a conceptual definition for both concepts of 
transformational leadership and good corporate governance. How does one's religious faith 
promote and espouse these concepts? What role does religion really have on an individual in 
the exercise of transformational leadership and good corporate governance? What are the 
theoretical underpinnings of religion as an antecedent of good corporate governance and how 
does this translate into better leadership abilities and better corporate governance?  
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Another theoretical challenge is the concept of transcendental leadership. Cardona 
(2000) first posited this leadership concept as a contribution based exchange 
relationship.  While Cardona's view of transcendental leadership is based on intrinsic 
motivation, Sanders, Hopkins, and Geroy (2003) viewed it from a perspective of spiritual 
development, linking transactional, transformational and transcendental leadership into an 
integrated theory of transcendental leadership.  This begs the question as to how 
transcendental influences good corporate governance. Further, how does religion as a 
mediating factor affect the relationship between transcendental relationship and good 
corporate governance? 

Leadership is an integral component in carrying out good corporate governance as 
presented in this research.   I encourage further studies on the role of leadership in good 
corporate governance, which can shed more light and understanding to the behavioral 
complexities of corporate governance.  Hernandez (2012) suggested the psychological dynamics 
on how transformational leadership can be improved and consequently drive stewardship 
behavior.  Enhancing corporate governance through transformational leadership is an area that 
will benefit all sectors of society who look to corporations as receptacles for improving human 
lives. 
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ABSTRACT 

 
This study employs the structure conduct performance (SCP) paradigm to examine how bank 
concentration, competition and efficiency affect banks’ ability to provide affordable credit after 
10 years of financial liberalization programs in Ghana. Using concentration ratios and 
Hirschman-Herfindahl Index, the analyses suggest that owing to moderate concentration in the 
industry, cost of credit is higher because the three largest banks may be acting collusively to 
reap higher profits. Furthermore, the study finds that moderate competition hinders the 
distinction of prices offered by banks and inefficiency among banks is as a result of suboptimal 
use of scale. 
 
JEL Classification: G21, G28 

 
Keywords: concentration, competition, efficiency, financial liberalization, SCP paradigm, Ghana 
 

INTRODUCTION 

 

The study investigates how the nature of Ghana’s banking industry (concentration, competition 
and efficiency) after 10 years of financial liberalization programs affect its ability to serve as a 
conduit for monetary policy as well as intermediate funds for economic growth.  

Commercial banks play a major role in the transfer of monetary policy especially in 
developing countries where financial markets are largely underdeveloped (Amidu & Harvey, 
2006; Ramirez, 2004). Under Ghana’s inflation targeting regime of monetary management, the 
role of commercial banks in closely relaying changes in monetary policy targets (such as the 
monetary policy rate) cannot be overemphasized. Both the government and private businesses, 
expect base market lending rates offered by commercial banks to positively respond to 
downward revisions in the monetary policy rate and inflation rate via the credit (bank lending) 
channel of monetary transmission mechanism. Factors affecting the ability of commercial banks 
in Ghana to expeditiously serve as conduits for monetary policy thus affect the availability and 
affordability of funds to private businesses (especially small and medium scale enterprises) 
(Beck, Demirgüç-kunt, & Maksimovic, 2004; Corvoisier & Gropp, 2002; Peek & Rosengren, 
1995). In relation to the nature of the banking industry and its ability to facilitate financial 
intermediation, literature has examined bank concentration, competition and efficiency (Bucks 
& Mathisen, 2005; Casu & Girardone, 2006). 

Many governments in developing and transition economies pursued financial 
liberalization from the 1980s. The move from financial repression which was prevalent in 
developing and transitions economies in the 1970s and 1980s was necessitated by shallow 
deposit mobilization, interest rate controls and allocation of credit to non-performing sectors of 
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the economy as well as high inflation, to name a few (Hanson & Ramachandran, 2005, pp. 208–
209). Financial reforms which began to roll out in South Asia (1970), East Asia (1980) and in 
transition economies, Latin America and Africa in the 1990s “focused on freeing interest rates 
and credit allocations” (Hanson & Ramachandran, 2005, p. 210). Reforms during financial 
liberalization were also aimed at enabling “the private sector to play a greater role in 
development” (Hanson & Ramachandran, 2005, p. 209). However, weak institutional 
arrangements coupled with asymmetric information problems between lenders and borrowers 
in addition to other factors such as the attractiveness of government borrowing led to the 
crowding out of private businesses in terms of bank credit. Apparently, government borrowing 
still possess as a challenge to SME access to finance in Ghana (Tagoe, Nyarko, & Anuwa-Amarh, 
2005). 

Policies such as privatization of state banks and easing the entry of foreign banks 
under financial liberalization have contributed to the improvement of the market structure 
(concentration and competition) of the banking industry in many economies (Casu & Girardone, 
2006). The impact of financial liberalization in increasing deposit mobilization is taken care of by 
literature (Ang, 2010; Hanson & Ramachandran, 2005). There is also evidence regarding 
significant changes in the efficiency of credit allocation owing to financial liberalization (Cho, 
1988; Galindo, Schiantarelli, & Weiss, 2007; Wurgler, 2000). Generally, financial liberalization is 
asserted to contribute more to financial development than financial crises (Ranciere, Tornell, & 
Westermann, 2006). 

However, causation between low market concentration, increased competition or 
bank efficiency and improved access to bank credit has not been convincingly dealt with in 
literature. In their research, Casu and Girardone (2006) found that “the degree of concentration 
is not necessarily related to the degree of competition” and that there is “little evidence that 
more efficient banking systems are also more competitive” (p. 441). 

The main objective of this paper is to contribute to literature bordering on the impact 
of bank concentration, competition and efficiency on access to finance (especially to private 
businesses) in a developing country (Ghana). The banking industry factors investigated are 
classified into structural – bank concentration (using k3, k5% concentration ratios and HHI) as 
well as non-structural i.e. competition and efficiency (using Panzar-Rosse model and DEA 
respectively). Furthermore, this study investigates the severity of government crowding out 
private businesses in relation to bank credit from 2002 to 2011 i.e. 10 years after the first 
financial reform program from 1988 to 1991 dubbed as the Financial Sector Adjustment 
Program (FINSAP I). 

In short, the research aims at answering the question of the extent to which banking 
industry factors in Ghana are enabling the smooth transmission of monetary policy via the 
credit (bank lending) channel in more than 10 years of financial liberalization programs.  

 

LITERATURE REVIEW 

 
This section presents theoretical foundations and empirical support for investigating on how 
bank concentration, competition and efficiency influence the access to finance in Ghana by 
facilitating the bank lending channel of monetary transmission after 10 years of financial 
liberalization programs.  

Broadly, the credit channel of monetary transmission mechanism is based on the 
premise that banks play a pivotal role in the transmission of monetary policy. Consequently, 
banks willingness and ability to intermediate funds directly affects the level of credit to the 
private sector, and thus economic activity. Against this backdrop, the concentration of banks or 
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dominance of the banking sector by a few large banks is likely to deepen the crisis of lending if 
they are unable or unwilling to lend to the private sector. Currently, in Ghana, the top five out 
of 27 universal-status banks hold 46 percent of total industry assets, 47 percent of industry 
deposits and 40 percent of industry loans and advances (PricewaterhouseCoopers, 2012, pp. 
31–33). The impact of monetary policy on bank lending behavior is well known in monetary 
economics literature, (Hubbard, 1994, 2008; Walsh, 2010) and there is ample evidence on the 
existence of the credit (bank lending) channel in Ghana’s case (Amidu & Wolfe, 2008; Quarshie, 
2013). 

Attempts have been made in empirical literature to link banking industry factors such 
as concentration and competition to performance (profitability and efficiency) (Bikker & Bos, 
2005; Casu & Girardone, 2006). The underlining framework employed in many of those 
empirical studies is the Structure-Conduct-Performance hypothesis (Hannan, 1991).  

According to Edwards, Allen, & Shaik (2005) the Structure-Conduct-Performance 
(hereafter, SCP) framework consists of two hypotheses which are; “structure performance 
hypothesis” and “efficient structure hypothesis”. While both hypotheses point to a link 
between market structure (concentration) and competition (or performance), the basic 
difference is the direction of causation. The structure performance hypothesis holds that as a 
result of high market concentration, there may be collusion among firms with large market 
share, which will result in the reaping of higher profits irrespective of their efficiency. This view 
supports the traditional SCP paradigm where the structure of the market affects conduct (i.e. 
“activities of the industry’s buyers and sellers”) (Mcwilliams & Smart, 1993, p. 64) which in turn 
affects firm’s performance in the industry. On the other hand, the efficient structure hypothesis 
asserts that a firm’s performance (increased profits owing to its efficiency) enables it to gain a 
larger market share (Edwards et al., 2005). In this paper, both hypotheses are employed in 
explaining results from bank concentration, competition and efficiency on access to finance in 
Ghana. This is necessary to (1) assess the impact of the market structure (bank concentration) 
and (2) assess the influence of industry wide competition as well as bank’s efficiency on access 
to bank credit.  

Using firm level data of banks in the European Union, Casu & Girardone (2006) find 
that banks have become more efficient as a result of competition. However, the data does not 
support its reverse situation where an increase in efficiency is leading to competition. Here, 
there is evidence of structure performance hypothesis while the efficient structure hypothesis 
is unsupported under the scope of their findings. What is relevant here is that empirical studies 
based on SCP paradigm is acceptable in literature.  
 Bucks & Mathisen (2005) investigate competition and efficiency of banks in Ghana 
from 1998 to 2003 and find that the lack of competition in the banking industry negatively 
affects the efficiency of financial intermediation. Biekpe (2011) also came to the same 
conclusion having used similar models as Bucks & Mathisen (2005), but with firm level data 
from 2000 to 2007. Also, in relation to bank competition, Salami (2008) observes, after 
analyzing survey data and interviews with top ranking official of notable banks, that to improve 
bank efficiency in the prevailing oligopolistic market environment more competition is needed. 
Although both qualitative and quantitative studies have been conducted about bank 
competition in Ghana, an update of such information is necessary especially after 10 years of 
financial liberalization.  

Pertaining to the nature of bank concentration, both Aboagye, Akoena, Antwi-Asare, & 
Gockel (2008) and Ofori, Bawumia, & Belnye (2005) suggest that the banking industry is 
dominated by a few large banks. Aboagye, et al. (2008) goes further to posit that the high 
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concentration in the industry could explain high interest margins to the advantage of the 
oligopolists, while being detrimental to fund-seekers from banks (Aboagye et al., 2008, p. 583). 

In terms of efficiency, Kutsienyo (2011), by using data from 26 commercial banks and 
macroeconomic data of Ghana from 2000 to 2009 concludes that bank efficiency contributes to 
the bank profitability in Ghana. In the same vein, Aboagye, et al. (2008) find that bank efficiency 
in relation to staff costs is instrumental in increasing market share. These results lend support 
to the existence of the efficient structure hypothesis in Ghana.  

In a nutshell, the literature survey gathers, that the nature of banking industry affects 
its ability to play the pivotal role in the credit (bank lending) channel of monetary transmission 
as well as effectively intermediate funds from fund-supplies to fund-users. More importantly, 
the SCP paradigm provides a framework (supported by empirical literature) for assessing the 
influence of market structure on performance (under the structure performance hypothesis) 
and also the influence of efficiency and performance on the market structure (under the 
efficient structure hypothesis). In light of the lessons drawn from the literature review and 
against the backdrop of discussions on financial liberalization, the paper draws the following 
hypotheses, which are tested in this study;  

x Although a few large banks hold significant proportions of market share, there is low 
concentration in the banking industry following financial reforms. 

x The banking industry is one of monopolistic competition. 
x Inefficiency among banks is attributable to scale. 
x Government crowds out the private sector with respect to bank credit.   

 

DATA AND METHODOLOGY 

 

Data  

Two separate cross-sectional time series datasets are constructed and used in this 
study. Both comprise unconsolidated financial statements sourced from Fitch Solutions in 2013. 
The first (hereafter, Panel 1) is a compilation of data on 11 banks spanning 10 years from 2002 
to 2011. The second dataset (hereafter, Panel 2) covers 17 banks over five years (2007 to 2011). 
This period is chosen to reflect five years of banking activity after the official adoption of 
inflation targeting in Ghana. In the case of the Panel 1, the period of analysis encompasses 5 
years before and after the official adoption of inflation targeting in Ghana. Coincidentally, 
inflation targeting as a monetary policy regime began to be formally practised in Ghana in 2002. 
In all, the selection of 11 banks (in Panel 1) and 17 banks (in Panel 2) out of the 27 licensed 
banks in Ghana is as a result of; (1) availability of data and (2) although data on some banks 
were available, the financial statements were not included in this study because they were 
consolidated and thus are likely to amplify the position of pertinent banks which in turn lead to 
misleading results.  
 

Methodology 

Bank concentration. In measuring bank concentration, various researches have used 
the k-bank concentration ratio, the Herfindahl-Hirschman index (HHI), the Lerner index or 
combinations of the aforementioned. According to Alegria & Schaeck (2006), the k3 bank 
concentration ratio, which is calculated  by dividing the assets of the three largest banks by the 
total size of the banking system, is more appropriate when dealing with small samples where 
N<50 i.e. total number of banks is less than 50 (Alegria & Schaeck, 2006, p. 5). Representatively,  
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 𝑘 =
∑ 𝑍
𝑍  (1) 

 
Notwithstanding the suitability of the k3 ratio in analyzing bank concentration for small 

samples, results from the k5% bank concentration ratio as well as HHI are reported and 
discussed in this section. The k5% ratio differs from the k3 ratio in terms of how the numerator is 
computed. Unlike the k3 ratio, the numerator of the k5% ratio is not simply a sum of the assets 
of 5 largest banks in the sample but rather, the sum of banks that constitute the top 5 percent 
(5th percentile) of the sample. The HHI, which is reported by regulators (see Cetorelli, 1999) is 
calculated by summing the squares of individual market shares of the all units (banks) in the 
sample. In other words, it is the “sum of squared bank market shares” (Alegria & Schaeck, 2006, 
p. 2). Therefore, the HHI can be described as a weighted score and is notable for taking into 
account the markets share of all banks in the sample instead of using only the three (3) largest 
banks or the top 5 percent banks in the k3 and k5% concentration ratio respectively.  

The k5% and HHI are defined as: 
 

 𝑘 % =
∑ 𝑍
𝑍  (2) 

 

 𝐻𝐻𝐼 =
𝑍
𝑍  (3) 

 
The results from the concentration ratios (both k3 and k5%) are interpreted as low 

(between 0% and 50%), medium (between 50% and 80%) and high (above 80%). 
Representatively we can let x be k3 and k5%, so that; 

 
Ratio In percentage Interpretation 

0 ≤ x ≤ 0.5 0% to 50% Low concentration (Perfect competition) 
0.5 ≤ x ≤ 0.8 50% to 80% Medium concentration (Oligopoly or Monopolistic competition) 
0.8 ≤ x ≤ 1 80% to 100% High concentration (Monopoly)  
 

Bank competition. In banking literature, the Iwata, Bresnahan, Panzar-Rosse, 
Structure-Conduct-Performance model, Cournot model and X-efficiency and Efficiency 
Hypothesis are used to measure bank market power and competition (Armenuhi, 2005).  

In this study, bank competition is measured using the Panzar-Rosse (P-R) model under 
the efficient structure hypothesis. The P-R model postulates that the market structure of a firm 
is predictive of its change in price as a result of a change in cost. To wit, a firm’s change in price 
following a change in cost is dependent on its position in the market i.e. either monopoly or 
not. P-R model is computed using reduced-form revenue equations. Bank competition is 
defined by an ‘H-statistic’ which ranges between 0 and 1 where H≤0, 0<H<1 and H=1 represent 
monopoly, monopolistic competition and perfect competition respectively (Gaertner & Sanya, 
2012, p. 12; Gelos & Roldos, 2002, p. 13). The H-statistic is derived by adding the elasticities (or 
coefficients) of input variables (labor, funds and capital) (see Goddard & Wilson, 2007; Shaffer, 
1982).  

To attain the elasticities required for computing H-statistic, the cost of labor, funds and 
capital as well as control variables such as size is regressed on the ratio of Interest Income to 
Total Assets (IIASS). The functional form of the model is given as: 
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 𝑙𝑛𝐼𝐼𝐴𝑆𝑆 = 𝛼 + 𝛽 𝑙𝑛𝑊 + 𝛽 𝑙𝑛𝐹 + 𝛽 𝑙𝑛𝐾 + 𝛾 𝑙𝑛𝑆𝐼𝑍𝐸 + 𝛾 𝑙𝑛𝐶𝐴𝑃𝐴𝑆𝑆
+ 𝛾 𝑙𝑛𝐿𝑁𝐴𝑆𝑆 + 𝜀  (4) 

 
where, the dependent variable lnIIASS represent the log of Total Interest Income over Total 
Assets, respectively. Other notations in the equation are explained in Table 1. 
 
Table 1. Definition of variables used in Panzar-Rosse model 

Label Variable Definition 

lnW Labour Personnel expenses/(Total Deposits + Total Loans) 
lnF Funds Total interest expense/Total funds 
lnK Capital (Total non-interest expense - Personnel expenses)/Fixed 

assets 
lnSIZE  Market share of Total assets 
lnCAPASS  Total equity / Total assets 
lnLNASS  Total loans / Total assets 
i No. of observed bank  
t Time of ith observation  
ε Error term  
Note: ‘ln’ represents natural logarithm  

 
The choice of IIASS as the dependent variable is informed by literature and under the 

assumption that the primary business of commercial banks is financial intermediation (Aboagye 
et al., 2008; Armenuhi, 2005; J. Bikker & Groeneveld, 1998; Gelos & Roldos, 2002). Equation (1) 
above is constructed to reflect the impact of individual bank’s market power, riskiness and 
combination of resources over time on its profitability or revenue generation. In that light, a 
bank’s competitiveness is tantamount to its market share coupled with its ability to make use of 
its resources in order to be profitable and stay ahead of the competition.  

The panel regression specified in Equation (4) is run using the fixed effects estimator. 
The fixed effects estimator is used because individual bank-specific characteristics are 
oftentimes correlated with other independent variables. The use of fixed effects in panel 
regression also helps to mitigate the impact of “unobserved heterogeneity” i.e. differences 
across banks with respect to time (Gelos & Roldos, 2002, p. 15). Moreover, the use of fixed 
effects regression on panel data when estimating H-statistics is a standard procedure (Goddard 
& Wilson, 2007). 

Bank efficiency. Simply put, efficiency is the ratio of output over input. Therefore the 
efficiency of a unit ε, which has α outputs and β inputs, can be mathematically denoted as (𝜀 =
𝛼/𝛽). Banking, like other service industries, use many inputs to generate many outputs.  
Measuring bank efficiency therefore requires models that can evaluate these multiple inputs 
and outputs.  

Financial ratios fall short of analyzing bank performance from a broader perspective 
because their computation usually involves the use of two (2) or three (3) variables. Frontier 
techniques like Data Envelopment Analysis (DEA) on the other hand, can measure efficiency 
using multiple inputs and outputs, which is akin to bank operations.  

DEA is used to measure bank efficiency in this study. Basically, DEA analyses the 
relative efficiencies of entities, referred to as ‘Decision Making Units’ or DMUs (Charnes, 
Cooper, & Rhodes, 1978). In a sense, DEA permits the use of relatively efficient banks as 
benchmarks wherewith recommendations are provided for inefficient units to attain efficiency 
by refining input combinations or other (Sherman & Zhu, 2006; Vuj & Jemri, 2001).  

An inefficient unit can become more efficient by either producing the same level of 
outputs with fewer inputs, by increasing the output given the same level of input or by both. 
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Producing the same level of output with fewer inputs is termed as input-oriented DEA whereas 
seeking to increase output while keeping the input level constant is referred to as output-
oriented DEA. Output-oriented DEA is used in this study in order to capture dynamics in bank’s 
use (lending) of borrowed funds under the intermediation approach. In other words, the use of 
output-oriented DEA will focus on assessing the output, thus, the efficiency of traditional 
financial intermediation, which is channeling funds from fund-suppliers to fund-users.  

As a result of multiple inputs and outputs used by banks, the construction of variables 
for measuring efficiency depends on one or more approaches adopted by the researcher. In this 
study, the intermediation approach informs the selection of variables. The variables used in the 
analysis are in line with literature (Berger & Humphrey, 1997; Luo & Yao, 2010; Thagunna, 
2013; Tortosa-ausina, 2002) and are appropriate for studying efficiency of banks in terms of 
borrowing (mobilization of funds) and lending (use of funds).  
 

Table 2. Description of variables for DEA analysis  
 Variable Definition 

Input Physical Capital  
Labour 
Funding 

Total Fixed Assets 
Total Personnel Expenses 
Total Deposits 

Output Loans 
Other earning assets 

Total Loans 
Total Securities 

 
Multi-stage, output-oriented DEA is executed under the assumption of variable returns 

to scale (VRS). The multi-stage DEA method is used because, the approach “identifies efficient 
projected points which have input and output mixes which are as similar as possible to those of 
the inefficient points, and that it is also invariant to units of measurement.” (Coelli, 1996, p. 14) 
The multi-stage method is thus not biased to the scale of the DMUs being measured. Also, the 
option of Variables Returns to Scale (VRS) is used instead of Constant Returns to Scale (CRS) 
because under CRS, it is assumed that “DMUs are operating at an optimal scale”. Additionally, 
the use of the VRS specification will permit the calculation of TE devoid of scale efficiency 
effects (Coelli, 1996, p. 17). 

 

RESULTS AND ANALYSES 

 

Bank concentration 

 

Table 3. Concentration ratio and market power using Panel 1 
Year k3 k5% HHI_TA HHI_TD HHI_TL 

2003 0.67 0.27 0.18 0.18 0.19 
2004 0.66 0.25 0.17 0.18 0.18 
2005 0.63 0.23 0.16 0.17 0.17 
2006 0.61 0.22 0.15 0.16 0.15 
2007 0.60 0.23 0.15 0.16 0.16 
2008 0.58 0.24 0.14 0.15 0.15 
2009 0.57 0.23 0.14 0.13 0.16 
2010 0.54 0.21 0.13 0.13 0.13 
2011 0.55 0.21 0.13 0.14 0.11 

Source: FitchSolutions (2013) 
 
Market share held by the three largest banks is generally within medium concentration 

(monopolistic competition) in the case of both samples (Tables 3 and 4). The share of the 
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market held by five percent of the largest banks is below 20 percent in both samples. HHI with 
respect to total assets, total deposits and total liabilities also show a low concentration (less 
than 50%) in the case of both samples.  

After 10 years of financial liberalization programs, the results show that banking 
industry in Ghana is broadly under perfect competition although, the three largest banks hold a 
significant share of industry assets. The hypothesis regarding market concentration is therefore 
validated. Pertaining to the structure performance hypothesis, the significant market share held 
by the three largest banks is likely to affect industry performance in the sense that those banks 
can act collusively to reap higher profits. The study opines that medium bank concentration in 
Ghana results in higher cost of credit since the increase in profits of oligopolists’ most likely 
stems from an increase in prices rather than a reduction in cost.   

 
Table 4. Concentration ratio and market power using Panel 2 

 Year k3 k5% HHI_TA HHI_TD HHI_TL 
2007 0.55 0.13 0.21 0.13 0.14 
2008 0.49 0.11 0.20 0.11 0.13 
2009 0.46 0.10 0.19 0.09 0.12 
2010 0.43 0.09 0.17 0.09 0.09 
2011 0.42 0.09 0.16 0.09 0.08 

Source: FitchSolutions (2013) 
 

Bank competition 

The probability of F-statistics (0.000) in the regression results validates the overall 
fitness of the model.  R-squared of 44 percent and 49 percent from the two samples indicate 
that almost half of the variations in the dependent variable can be explained by the 
independent variables. The coefficients of Labour (lnW), Funds (lnF) and Capital (lnK) in panel 1 
are significant at the 5 percent significance level while in panel 2, all except labour is statistically 
significant at 5 percent.  
 
Table 5. Results from P-R model 

 Panel 1 Panel 2 

Variable Coefficient Std. Err.  P-value Coefficient Std. Err.  P-value 

LnW  (a) 0.086255 0.04145 0.040 0.056942 0.061518 0.358 
LnF  (b) 0.457762 0.042751 0.000 0.128853 0.047816 0.009 
LnK (c) 0.064534 0.030517 0.037 0.507682 0.048858 0.000 
LnSIZE 0.004597 0.036546 0.900 -0.03898 0.059197 0.513 
LnCAPASS 0.099519 0.037011 0.009 0.079958 0.035414 0.028 
LnLNASS 0.045879 0.044943 0.310 0.024506 0.078947 0.757 
Obs 109 82 
R-squared 0.44 0.49 
Prob (F-stat) 0.000 0.000 
H-Statistic 
= (a)+(b)+(c) 

0.61 0.69 

 
The H-statistics for the two samples are 0.61 and 0.69, respectively. According to 

Panzar & Rosse (1987), the aforementioned results in the range of (0<H<1) demonstrate that 
competition in the banking industry, relative to the two samples is one of monopolistic 
competition. The results from the P-R model suggest that the revenue of banks is moderately 
affected by change in costs. Banks are able to raise prices to offset increases in cost of inputs. 
Putting this together with the finding of medium market concentration as a result of a few large 
banks, prices are influenced. In effect, other banks in the industry become price-takers, which 
then leaves the market in monopolistic competition. Again monopolistic competition as well as 
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slow growth of competition in the face of oligopolists price-setting advantage is in keeping up 
with the efficient market hypothesis.  
 

Bank efficiency 

The results from the DEA analysis in Figures 1 and 2 reveal that the mean efficiency 
score for banks in Ghana over the period is generally high. With respect to the first sample 
(2002 to 2011), the mean efficiency score for all banks is 0.8769 (CRSTE), 0.9638 (VRSTE) and 
0.9093 (SE). The larger value for VRSTE compared to scale efficiency (SE) is indicative of banks 
having the potential to further utilize their scale. 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Source: FitchSolutions (2013) 
Figure 1. Mean Efficiency Scores of 11 banks from 2002 to 2011.  
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Source: FitchSolutions (2013) 
Figure 2. Mean Efficiency Scores of 16 banks from 2007 to 2011.  
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Figure 2 presents the results from 16 banks over 5 years. There is an increase in all 
efficiency scores. The mean efficiency score for all banks with regards to CRSTE, VRSTE and SE 
were 0.726, 0.866 and 0.842, respectively.  

The inefficient use of bank sizes could be as a result of reasons such as: a diluted or 
depleting customer and deposit base, physical concentration of banking infrastructure within a 
limited geographical space, just to mention a few. Before financial sector reforms in 1988, there 
were only 7 banks operating in Ghana (Bank of Ghana, 2011). The additional 19 banks were 
licensed to operate between 1988 and 2008 (PricewaterhouseCoopers, 2011). Consequently, 
physical banking infrastructure increased significantly during financial liberalization. For 
example, according to the World Bank, bank branches doubled from 360 in 2004 to 790 in 
2011.  However, since other banks besides the oligopolists are price-takers their profits may not 
correspond with increase in operational costs or scale of operations thus making them 
inefficient in relation to their use of scale. In this regard, the position of the efficient market 
hypothesis in relating efficiency to competition is upheld.  

Financial liberalization led to the deposit mobilization by banks. However, owing to the 
underdevelopment of institutions like property rights, collateral registries, etc., that is 
necessary to support allocation of funds to the private sector, lending to the government by 
purchasing government securities like Treasury bills prevailed (Hanson & Ramachandran, 2005, 
p. 212). In their studies, Bucks & Mathisen (2005) and Biekpe (2011) find that both nominal and 
real Treasury bill rate significantly contribute to total revenue and interest revenue of banks in 
Ghana. They argue that such an impact of government borrowing on bank’s profitability crowds 
out the private sector in “capturing banks’ investments” (Bucks & Mathisen, 2005, p. 21). 
Furthermore, the level of banks’ dependence on government securities inhibits competition 
and inefficiency among banks in Ghana (Biekpe, 2011; Bucks & Mathisen, 2005).  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Source: FitchSolutions (2013) 
Figure 3. Average proportion of loans and securities to total earning assets of 11 banks.  

 

Both studies have used regression analyses in arriving at their findings on government 
crowding out. This study goes further to investigate the proportion of net loans and total 
securities in banks’ total earning assets in order to ascertain banks’ allocation of funds between 
the private sectors and the government from 2002 to 2011. The result in Figure 3 below shows 
that the larger portion of banks’ total earning assets is loans (i.e. mortgage loans, retail loans, 
corporate and commercial loans and other loans). Based on the result, the study posits that 
lending to the private sector remains the primary business of banks. This position does not 
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refute the finding of government crowding out by previous research (Biekpe, 2011, p. 85; Bucks 
& Mathisen, 2005, p. 21). However, it brings clarity to banks’ management (or allocation) of 
earning assets and in addition mitigates the overdramatized impact of government borrowing 
(through securities) on access to finance by the private sector.  

 

CONCLUSION 

 
This study paper employs the structure-conduct-performance (SCP) paradigm to examine how 
bank concentration, competition and efficiency affect banks’ ability to provide affordable credit 
(especially to the private sector) after 10 years of financial liberalization programs in Ghana.  

Two panel datasets are constructed using firm-level data of banks. The first comprises 
11 banks from 2002 to 2011 and the second is on 17 banks from 2007 to 2011.  The study finds:  

x Low concentration in the banking industry. A general decrease in market 
concentration as shown by the results of HHI on total assets, total deposits and total 
liabilities suggest that the increase in the number of banks licensed to operate in 
Ghana during financial liberalization has yielded positive results.  

x Market concentration affects cost of credit. The k3 concentration ratio reveals that the 
three largest banks possess a significant portion of industry assets, which according to 
the structure performance hypothesis, results in the oligopolists acting collusively to 
reap higher profits. Aboagye et al. (2008) and Ofori et al. (2005) came to similar 
conclusions in their work.  

x Moderate competition hinders distinction of prices. H-statistics of (0.61 and 0.69) from 
the Panzar-Rosse model suggest that banks are able to raise prices to offset increases 
in input costs. On the other hand, it is assumed that under the efficient structure 
hypothesis, oligopolists are able to influence industry wide prices thus making other 
banks ‘price-takers’ and thereby inhibiting competition. This finding is in agreement 
with the findings of Aboagye et al. (2008) and Salami (2008).  

x Inefficiency among banks stems out of sub-optimal use of scale. Financial liberalization 
has undoubtedly contributed to an increase in physical banking infrastructure. 
Nonetheless, being price-takers under oligopolistic competition, many banks are 
unable to pass on operational costs to customers, which in turn negatively affect their 
profits. The inability of profits to match the scale of operations explains their sub-
optimal use of scale.    

x Banks lend more to businesses than the government. The portion of banks’ total 
earning assets allotted to businesses is more than that of government securities from 
2002 to 2011. The attractiveness of treasury bills may remain a source of competition 
for bank credit between the government and private sector; however, such findings 
may have been over amplified by previous research.  

Regarding the composition of banks’ total earning assets, future research could decompose 
net loans into loans to private businesses and public corporations. Such an undertaking is 
worthwhile because previous researches have mainly used government securities (especially 
Treasury bill rates) as proxy for government borrowing without considering bank loans to 
government agencies and corporations.  

A limitation of the study is the absence of a model that simultaneously incorporates all 
aspects of banking industry factors discussed, for example, a regression of variables pertaining 
to bank concentration, competition, and efficiency on a proxy for access to finance. 

While entry of more banks into the Ghanaian banking system has yielded positive results in 
the past, the challenge of expanding financial services to non-urban centers remain a challenge. 
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Young and smaller banks are encouraged to develop a new customer base instead of 
attempting to share existing customers with older and larger banks. Creating a niche market 
based on income levels, geographical location of customers and industry sectors is deemed 
relevant. Put together, such steps are envisaged to increase the banks’ deposit base, which will 
probably lead to lower concentration, higher competition and a more efficient use of scale. To 
mitigate the negative effect so-called oligopolists exert on the development of the banking 
industry, the Bank of Ghana could employ moral suasion to deal with banks acting collusively to 
reap higher profits by way of increasing prices. 
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APPENDICES 

 
Appendix 1. Summary statistics of variables in Panel 1 for P-R model  

Variable Obs Mean Std. Dev. Min Max 
LnIIASS 110 -2.10568 0.224585 -2.7139 -1.45502 
LnW 109 -3.60014 0.459052 -5.62065 -2.74378 
LnF 110 -2.90525 0.497346 -4.31679 -1.79176 
LnK 110 0.305872 0.571091 -0.96024 1.892564 
LnSIZE 110 -2.82896 1.007041 -5.68464 -1.13686 
LnCAPASS 110 -2.23892 0.452038 -4.71929 -1.30988 
LnLNASS 110 -0.87952 0.345291 -2.21789 -0.32431 

Note: Data from FitchSolutions (2013) 
 
 
 
 
 
Appendix 2. Summary statistics of variables in Panel 2 for P-R model  

Variable Obs Mean Std. Dev. Min Max 
LnIIASS 85 -2.18281 0.265822 -2.84458 -1.45502 
LnW 82 -3.62509 0.493632 -5.62065 -2.41127 
LnK 84 0.281187 0.547064 -1.00145 1.429756 
LnF 84 -2.85965 0.488986 -4.31679 -1.79176 
LnSIZE 85 -3.21431 0.975886 -6.3124 -1.57349 
LnCAPASS 85 -2.19539 0.656107 -4.71929 -0.03874 
LnLNASS 84 -0.8635 0.348265 -1.95926 -0.32431 

Note: Data from FitchSolutions (2013) 
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ABSTRACT 
 

Using cross-sectional data from the 2006 Business Trade and Services Survey of Thailand, this 
paper investigates productivity and wage spillovers from Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) in Thai 
business trade and services sectors. We examine whether FDI has an impact on the output per 
worker and the average wages of domestic firms in these sectors and divide our analysis into 
various aspects. Spillover effects are examined horizontally at the 2-digit industry level by 
spillover variables, foreign employment share and foreign output share. The results indicate that 
foreign firms are generally more productive and pay higher average wages than domestically 
owned firms. For productivity spillovers, we find no clear evidence of FDI spillovers in the whole 
sample, but find mixed results when analyzing the data conditionally by firm size and form of 
organization of domestic firms. For wage spillovers, we observe negative horizontal spillovers 
from FDI in the whole sample, especially in large firms, and find negative spillovers in selected 
industries. On average, the estimated results yield mixed results for productivity spillovers 
depending on subsample. On the contrary, the results suggest negative wage spillovers from FDI 
in the same industry. In general, since FDI can positively or negatively affect the productivity and 
average wages of domestic firms, our evidence suggests that the overall effect of foreign 
ownership in Thai business and service industries is not prevalent and we may conclude that 
there are both advantages and disadvantages regarding FDI spillovers from foreign firms to 
domestic firms in our analysis. The difficulty in estimating FDI spillover effects in the service-
producing industries arise largely because of the lack of complete information and panel data 
covering these industries in Thailand. This study provides insights for Thai policy makers 
concerning promotion of the beneficial spillover effects of FDI in these industries. 

 
JEL Classification: F21, F23, L8 
 
Keywords:  FDI Spillovers, Business Trade and Services, Productivity, Wage, Thailand 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 
Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) in business trade and services accounts for the bulk of global 
FDI stocks and flows, and their increase as a share of international investments, a recent trend, 
is one of their most outstanding features in recent years (UNCTAD, 2004). FDI has given rise to a 
number of theoretical and empirical studies that have investigated its determinants and its 
impact on host economies, particularly in developing countries. However, much of FDI 
literature has focused on FDI in the manufacturing sector and very few studies exist for the 

mailto:thanapol.srithanpong@outlook.com


Asia Pacific Business & Economics Perspectives, 2(1), Summer 2014 

 

55  

services sector. This creates a critical gap in the literature of FDI, as the role of FDI is 
increasingly shifting towards services (UNCTAD, 2008). Most economic research has focused on 
the performance and the impact of Multinational Corporations (MNCs) in the agricultural and 
industrial sectors of developing and developed countries. In contrast, studies on the services 
sector have been somewhat limited and have not been explored with the same rigor. The 
recent rapid growth in the business trade and services sector has prompted a change in 
research focus. As a result, there is now a growing research interest in the services sector and 
its increasingly dominant contribution to gross domestic product in many developed 
economies. The services sector is also becoming an increasingly important contributor to the 
gross domestic product of emerging economies in Asia such as Malaysia, Singapore, Thailand 
and Indonesia (Clemes et al., 2003). 

Moreover, the increase in the growth of the services sector has also triggered a growth 
in demand for a variety of manufactured goods such as computers, cell phones, digital scanners 
and optical linkages, and so forth. The services sector is also a large contributor to income and 
employment in several countries. According to the International Standard Industrial 
Classification (ISIC) system, the services sector includes wholesale and retail trade, restaurants 
and hotels, transport, storage, communications, financial services, insurance, real estate, 
business services, community services, social services, and government services.  

In Thailand, the business trade and services sector is a substantial and a growing 
component of the Thai economy, accounting for nearly half of the aggregate production and 
approximately 40 percent of national employment. Although government policies in other 
emerging economies tend to focus on the growth of manufacturing industries, the service-
producing industries in Thailand have been the dominant source of new job creation in recent 
years (the National Economic and Social Development Board of Thailand - NESDB and World 
Bank, 2006). Regarding the impact from FDI and MNCs on domestic firms, generally, FDI 
spillovers are said to take place when the entry and the presence of MNC affiliates lead to 
efficiency benefits in the host country’s local firms (Blomstrom & Kokko, 2002). Spillovers may 
occur in the foreign affiliates’ own industry or in other industries, or among the affiliates’ 
suppliers or customers. In addition, they are assumed to occur through three channels, namely 
demonstration effects, competition effects, and worker mobility. With regard to this aspect of 
FDI spillovers, Thailand serves as a particularly interesting case study, given that it first 
experienced an increasing flow of inward FDI over time. This helps to define Thailand as a 
driving place to do business, as MNCs tend to concentrate their activities in more dynamic and 
competitive industries. Second, Thai government authorities have been more active in 
attracting foreign MNCs in recent years to both the manufacturing and services sectors. Third, 
to date, there have been few empirical investigations of the potential spillover effects of MNCs 
on the Thai business trade and services industry. Therefore, it is promising to study these 
effects and assess the key determinants of FDIs for Thai firms in the business trade and services 
sectors, so as to provide insights for Thai policy makers regarding the promotion of these 
benefits, as well as drawing general conclusions for other developing countries. 

Since there are very few empirical studies concerning the spillover effect of FDI in the 
business trade and services sectors, especially for developing countries such as Thailand, this 
paper attempts to analyze empirically the intra-industry spillover effects (horizontal spillovers) 
from FDI using firm-level data from the 2006 Business Trade and Services Survey of Thailand. To 
our knowledge, this study is one of the first studies to explore the Thai case. As stated by 
Blomstrom and Kokko (2002), the composition of inward FDI has changed in recent years. For 
example, most FDIs from OECD countries to developing countries shift gradually into services 
rather than manufacturing. As a result, one could expect FDI to have significant spillover effects 
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in the services sector. Although Svejnar et al. (2007) recently analyzed spillovers for 17 
emerging countries, this area of study remains under-researched from the viewpoint of micro-
level analysis. For this reason, this paper seeks to contribute to this emerging body of 
knowledge by testing the presence and the extent of productivity and wage spillovers from FDI 
in the business trade and services industries of Thailand. In short, this paper contributes to the 
existing literature in two ways. Firstly, in our econometric analysis, the impact of foreign 
presence (by FDI or MNCs) on labor productivity (output per worker) and average wages per 
worker are examined at the 2-digit ISIC industry level and observed by both foreign output 
share and foreign employment share. Secondly, we carefully examine the existence and 
strength of both productivity and wage spillovers under different conditions and firm 
characteristics, and consider the effects of foreign presence separately in each industry to 
analyze the spillover effects in detail. 

The reminder of this paper is structured as follows: Section 2 reviews the related 
literature on FDI spillovers, especially in the business trade and service sectors, Section 3 
describes the data, and presents the empirical models used and econometric techniques 
applied. Next, section 4 discusses and explains the empirical results. Lastly, section 5 concludes 
with suggestions for further research. 

 
PAST STUDIES OF FDI IN THE SERVICES SECTOR AND RELATED LITERATURE 

 
The number of empirical studies assessing the incidence of intra-industry spillovers to domestic 
firms is growing rapidly; such studies focus mostly on the manufacturing industry. So far, the 
results have been mixed for both developed and developing countries and evidence on FDI 
spillovers has not been conclusive. Additionally, econometric evidence on FDI in the services 
sector is extremely limited for many countries. With the notable exception of FDI and MNCs in 
financial services, there are limited econometric studies of FDI in the service sector in other 
aspects, especially for the case of developing countries. A large body of literature has 
thoroughly investigated the presence of horizontal or vertical spillovers between multinational 
and domestic firms in manufacturing sectors. Nonetheless, the effect of the entry of MNCs in 
service sectors has not been investigated with the same emphasis.  

In theory, intra-industry spillover benefits from FDI are assumed to occur through 
three channels. First, there are “demonstration effects”, when foreign firms after entering the 
market, demonstrate their advanced technologies, and domestic firms may adapt to imitate 
them afterwards. Second, there are “competition effects” –increase in competition occurs as a 
result of foreign entry. It forces domestic firms to introduce new technology and increase 
productivity to remain competitive in the industry. Third, there are “worker mobility effects”, 
when domestic workers trained by or having worked in MNC affiliates may decide to leave and 
join an existing domestic firm, or open up a new domestic firm, taking with them some or all of 
their MNC-specific knowledge (Blomstrom and Kokko, 2002). However, international service 
transactions are complex to analyze and many developing countries, including Thailand, lack 
sufficient information on foreign transactions in business trade and services to make analysis 
possible. In addition, because services are not directly observed to be crossing borders, at best 
only factors of production may be observed as proxies (Reinsdorf and Slaughter, 2009).  

One of the recent studies concerning the impact of FDI on the business trade and 
services industry can be found in Hamida (2011). This paper discusses the key factors 
determining FDI intra-industry spillovers and examines the presence and extent of FDI spillovers 
in Switzerland by testing the spillover effect for the services and construction industry. The 
main results show that domestic firms with high technological capacities appear to gain 
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spillover benefits from FDI heightening competition, while mid- and low-technology firms 
benefit more from demonstration effects. Furthermore, spillovers for high- and mid-technology 
firms appear to be largely co-determined by the level of their human capital. Only domestic 
firms, which invested greatly in absorptive capacity gain from spillovers. The basic 
characteristics of business trade and services that differentiate them from manufactured goods 
are non-transferability and non-storability. Moreover, other related characteristics of services 
that deserve to be mentioned are that, they are heterogeneous and flexible in production, and 
that imperfect competition is highly relevant to them. FDI in services may therefore occur 
owing to different reasons than FDI in goods, and require separate interpretation (Banga, 2005).  

For the Thai case, there has been extremely limited research in the field of FDI 
spillovers, especially for the case of business trade and services sector. Our study here is one of 
the first studies, which tries to utilize firm-level data in the business trade and services sector. 
Generally, there have been many reports regarding the FDI situation in both manufacturing and 
services sectors in Thailand, however, in terms of empirical analysis; there have been very few 
studies. As a result, this study provides insights for future studies concerning how to utilize 
available data and how to promote the beneficial spillover effects of FDI in these industries. 
 

THE DATA AND EMPIRICAL INVESTIGATION 
 

Data 

The data employed in our econometric analysis come from the National Statistical 
Office of Thailand (NSO). Cross section data is used sourced from the 2006 Business Trade and 
Services Survey. The NSO has conducted the Business Trade and Services Survey every 2 years. 
This is the 22nd Business Trade and Services Survey. The main purpose of the survey is to collect 
the basic business information to be used in implementing business policies and planning 
development. The survey covers business establishments with at least one person engaged in; 
wholesale trade, retail trade, hotels and restaurants, recreational and other services activities, 
located in fixed premises in Bangkok, in either municipal areas or non-municipal areas, forming 
as sub-district administration organization, throughout the country. The data was collected in 
2005, from various establishments located throughout the whole kingdom. In the study of FDI 
spillovers, panel data analysis is usually more preferred to prevent criticism regarding the 
possibility of a simultaneity problem. However, we are not able to obtain the survey data in an 
electronic version for years before 2006 and for survey data after 2006; namely, 2008 and 2010, 
as the data is not accessible and we could not obtain the details from the survey in electronic 
version. Because of this data acquisition and data completeness problem, it is impossible for us 
to create a panel data analysis for the business trade and services sector for the Thai case at the 
time of the research. Due to data limitation, this is generally one of the most important reasons 
why there are very few studies concerning FDI in the business trade and services sector in 
Thailand and other developing countries. 

The overview of the data can be summarized as follows. The results of the 2006 
Business Trade and Services Survey show that there were in total 1.6 million business 
establishments in the whole kingdom. Most of them (about 98.2%) were small-scale 
establishments with 1-15 persons. The major businesses were retail trade, (except of motor 
vehicles and motorcycles), and repair of personal and household goods, (about 48.0%). Persons 
working in business establishments amounted to 5.9 million. Out of this, about 3.3 million 
persons were employees each receiving an annual remuneration of about 118,433 Baht. 
Moreover, the establishments contributed value through receipts, expenditures and value 
added, of about 8.2 million Baht, 6.5 million baht and 1.8 million Baht respectively. The survey 
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also incorporated questions concerning problems and obstacles of business establishments, 
which were about 29.4 percent. Of these, 41.2 percent suffered from a higher production cost, 
29.5 percent from economic crisis and 23.0 percent from lower purchasing power. About 29.4 
percent of business establishments expressed their opinion on aid needed from the 
government. Of these, about 46.9 percent needed for oil and goods prices control, 33.9 percent 
required lower loan rate and 17.9 percent for government regulation improvement. Specifically, 
Table 1 shows the statistical summary of the key variables of the data used after the cleaning-
up phase in our analysis. 

 
Table 1: Statistical Summary of the Key Variables  

Variable Unit Observations Mean Std. Dev. Min Max 

LnYL (ln) baht 1180 10.123 5.193 0.009 23.652 

LnKI (ln) baht 1011 10.396 3.913 -4.672 23.453 

LnMI (ln) baht 995 8.824 5.604 -8.732 18.210 

LnL (ln) workers 1180 4.647 2.725 0.693 9.770 

LnLQ (ln) workers 1180 0.086 0.238 0.000 3.054 

LnAge (ln) years 1180 2.113 1.329 0.000 4.595 

LnHERF (ln) proportion 1180 -2.226 0.558 -2.862 -0.840 

LnAvrRemu (ln) baht 1180 12.409 1.150 10.732 13.849 

FOR zero-one dummy 1180 0.675 0.468 0.000 1.000 

LnEFOR (ln) proportion 1180 0.231 0.162 0.000 0.383 

LnYFOR (ln) proportion 1180 0.152 0.149 0.000 0.369 

Central zero-one dummy 1180 0.567 0.496 0.000 1.000 

MUN zero-one dummy 1180 0.810 0.392 0.000 1.000 

Small zero-one dummy 1180 0.557 0.497 0.000 1.000 

Large zero-one dummy 1180 0.443 0.497 0.000 1.000 

Government zero-one dummy 672 0.031 0.174 0.000 1.000 

FormEcon zero-one dummy 742 0.295 0.456 0.000 1.000 

 

The Econometric Models and Variables 
As a first step, we have to obtain a measure of the firms’ total factor productivity. 

Following the existing empirical literature, we assume a two factor Cobb-Douglas production 
function. The effects of FDI intra-industry spillovers for business trade and services sector are 
modeled within the context of the production function. Therefore, taking logarithms we have: 

 
lnYit = α0 + α1lnLit + α2lnKit + µit 

 
where Yit is output, Lit is labor, and Kit is capital for firm i observed at time (year) t. Moreover, µit 
represents the (unobserved) productivity level and is either a measurement error or an 
unobserved productivity shock (idiosyncratic shock). 

Following Dimelis and Louri (2004), a simple form of an augmented production 
function for the business trade and services sector is used as a starting point. For productivity 
and wage spillovers, to estimate the presence of spillover effects, we follow the methodology 
of Aitken and Harrison (1999) and estimate the following log linear production function: 
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FDI productivity spillovers: 
 
lnYLij = β0 + β1lnKIij + β2lnMIij + β3lnLij  +  β4lnLQij + β5lnAgeij           
           + β6HERFj + β7Centralij + β8MUNij + β9FORij + εij   (1) 
 
FDI wage spillovers: 
 
lnAvrRemuij = β0 + β1lnKIij + β2lnMIij + β3lnLij  +  β4lnLQij + β5lnAgeij           
           + β6HERFj + β7Centralij + β8MUNij + β9FORij + εij      (2) 
 

Here, i represents firm while j represents the industry. As for the variables, YL is output 
per worker of a firm. AvrRemu is average wages per worker of a firm. KI represents capital 
intensity. MI represents material input intensity, and L represents labor inputs. LQ is labor 
quality, defined as the share of skilled workers in the total workforce of each firm. Age 
represents the period of operating years of a firm. FOR is the zero-one dummy variable (equal 
to 1 if a firm reports foreign investment or foreign share holding, and zero otherwise). The 
Herfindahl (HERF) index of industry concentration is constructed using the survey data at the 2-
digit ISIC classification. Central is the central area dummy (equal to 1 if firms are in central area 
- Bangkok and central region, and zero otherwise). MUN is the municipal area dummy (equal to 
1 if firms are in municipal areas and zero otherwise).  

When measuring spillover effects from FDI, the following variables are especially 
useful and will be used to capture the impact and effects of foreign presence on both 
productivity and wage spillovers. They are defined as follows: 

EFOR = Proxy for foreign presence, defined as the ratio of the employment of foreign 
firms to total employment in each subsector at the 2-digit ISIC  

YFOR = Proxy for foreign presence, defined as the ratio of the output of foreign firms 
to total output in each subsector at the 2-digit ISIC 

All spillover variables above are constructed from the 2006 Business Trade and 
Services Survey of Thailand following the definition and methodology described in the literature 
mentioned earlier. From the model and variables described above, it should be noted that the 
problems of estimating productivity and wage spillovers in the service-producing industry for 
the Thai case arise mainly because of the lack of complete survey information covering these 
industries that could be used to construct more sophisticated research methodology such as 
panel data analysis. Measures of the economic performance in the business trade and services 
sector are also underrepresented in the statistical systems of many developing countries, 
including Thailand. The bias in favor of agriculture and industry has been due in part to 
difficulties of defining and measuring the intangible output of some service-producing 
industries. Due to data constraints, we try our best to choose a representative sample 
observation from the data. Additionally, due to missing information on some key variables, the 
data was cleaned up by first deleting firms, which had not responded to one or more key 
questions and which had provided seemingly impossible information such as the negative value 
added and inputs used and total employment being less than one. The final number of 
observations can be shown in Table 1. Furthermore, as we can see from Table 2, the sign of the 
coefficients do not change when we run the robust regression analysis by various estimators. As 
a result, in our analysis, we will utilize the OLS (Ordinary Least Squares) estimator with robust 
standard error as a main estimator for the benchmark result. 
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Table 2: Robust Regression: Comparison of Robust Estimators 

 Productivity Spillovers (LnYL)  Wage Spillovers (LnAvrRemu) 

 reg rreg qreg mmreg  reg rreg qreg mmreg 

LnKI 0.327*** 0.206*** 0.275*** 0.0597** LnKI 0.250*** 0.106*** 0.178*** 0.0893*** 

 (6.43) (8.16) (11.67) (2.58)  (6.80) (9.13) (8.55) (4.87) 

LnMI 0.172*** 0.190*** 0.179*** 0.638*** LnMI 0.0772*** 0.0121* 0.0468*** 0.0100 

 (9.45) (13.97) (13.89) (32.55)  (5.44) (2.28) (4.90) (1.89) 

LnL -0.804*** -1.011*** -0.761*** 0.0174 LnL -0.887*** 0.0299 -0.608*** 0.0529 

 (-10.96) (-28.65) (-22.77) (0.27)  (-15.26) (1.88) (-21.23) (1.57) 

LnLQ -3.903*** -5.026*** -4.252*** -0.986* LnLQ -4.786*** -3.061*** -5.485*** -3.005*** 

 (-7.02) (-17.40) (-15.53) (-2.01)  (-5.47) (-15.48) (-15.48) (-9.30) 

LnAge 0.542*** 0.485*** 0.448*** 0.0382 LnAge 0.547*** 0.0305 0.385*** 0.0365 

 (4.80) (7.25) (7.11) (0.89)  (6.05) (1.01) (7.02) (0.87) 

LnHERF -0.452* -0.279* -0.248* 0.0970 LnHERF 0.102 -0.126* 0.0545 -0.0124 

 (-2.50) (-2.11) (-1.99) (1.43)  (0.78) (-2.36) (0.56) (-0.17) 

Central 0.680*** 0.486*** 0.517*** 0.0682 Central 0.771*** 0.527*** 0.584*** 0.422*** 

 (4.15) (3.59) (4.04) (1.61)  (6.14) (9.70) (5.97) (7.83) 

MUN 0.471* 0.325 0.512** 0.0540 MUN 0.325* 0.414*** 0.350** 0.278*** 

 (2.39) (1.94) (3.22) (0.96)  (2.06) (6.15) (2.89) (4.27) 

FOR 2.480*** 3.276*** 3.545*** 5.576*** FOR 0.105 2.747*** 1.838*** 2.924*** 

 (4.83) (14.81) (16.99) (12.61)  (0.24) (24.84) (9.23) (7.33) 

Observations 884 884 884 884 Observations 723 723 723 723 

Adjusted R-sq 0.678 0.814   Adjusted R-sq 0.675 0.638   

Notes: The above values are estimated results and ***,**, * indicates a statistical significance at 1, 5, 10 
percent, respectively. 
reg: OLS with robust Standard Errors, rreg: Robust regression and the command computes a highly 
efficient M-estimator, qreg: Median regression and this estimator protects against vertical outliers but not 
against bad leverage points, mmreg: the command computes a MM-estimator that combine high –
breakdown point and high efficiency. 
 

Concerning the division of industry in the data, according to the data summary of the 
2006 Business Trade and Services Survey, there are 7 divisions, which can be categorized in 
detail as follows: 
 
Division 50: Sale, maintenance and repair of motor vehicles and motorcycles etc. 
Division 51: Wholesale trade and commission trade, except motor vehicles and motorcycles 
Division 52: Retail trade, except of motor vehicles and motorcycles etc. 
Division 55: Hotels and restaurants 
Division 70: Real estate activities 
Division 71-74, 92: Renting of machinery and equipment etc. 
Division 93: Other service activities 
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EMPIRICAL RESULTS 
 

Impact of Foreign Ownership/Presence (FOR) on Output per worker (Labor Productivity 

Spillovers) 

There are two specifications in our benchmark results from Equation (1). The result 
with outliers (firms with values for variables which are far away from other observations in the 
sample) and the result without outliers are compared side-by-side in Table 3. It should be noted 
that extreme values might be the culprit in reporting errors and conclusions, and that 
conclusion might be influenced by a small number of firms with extremely high or low values. 
However, we can see that both specifications yield similar results in our analysis, confirming the 
accuracy of the previous cleanup procedure where we dropped almost every impossible value 
from the first stage, enabling us to carefully choose the most accurate sample observations to 
represent for the entire firm in the business trade and services sector.  
 
Table 3: Impact of Foreign Ownership/Presence on Output per worker (Labor Productivity Spillovers) 
LnYL With Outliers Without Outliers 

 (1) (2) (3) (1) (2) (3) 

LnKI 0.245*** 0.245*** 0.251*** 0.327*** 0.327*** 0.328*** 

 (3.86) (3.86) (3.98) (6.43) (6.41) (6.40) 

LnMI 0.147*** 0.147*** 0.150*** 0.172*** 0.172*** 0.172*** 

 (6.46) (6.14) (6.69) (9.45) (9.03) (9.55) 

LnL -0.753*** -0.753*** -0.746*** -0.804*** -0.803*** -0.802*** 

 (-8.50) (-8.45) (-8.42) (-10.96) (-10.85) (-10.95) 

LnLQ -2.878** -2.878** -2.913** -3.903*** -3.903*** -3.907*** 

 (-3.06) (-3.06) (-3.12) (-7.02) (-7.01) (-6.98) 

LnAge 0.401** 0.401** 0.401** 0.542*** 0.542*** 0.543*** 

 (2.70) (2.71) (2.69) (4.80) (4.83) (4.78) 

LnHERF -0.811*** -0.810** -1.230* -0.452* -0.458* -0.560 

 (-3.48) (-2.88) (-2.54) (-2.50) (-2.10) (-1.58) 

Central 0.671** 0.671** 0.692** 0.680*** 0.679*** 0.686*** 

 (3.16) (3.15) (3.23) (4.15) (4.15) (4.14) 

MUN 0.584* 0.585* 0.571* 0.471* 0.470* 0.468* 

 (2.47) (2.48) (2.42) (2.39) (2.39) (2.38) 

FOR 1.527* 1.512 2.059** 2.480*** 2.567 2.614*** 

 (2.39) (0.79) (2.86) (4.83) (1.60) (4.94) 

LnEFOR  0.0427   -0.256  

  (0.01)   (-0.06)  
LnYFOR   -2.487   -0.623 

   (-1.30)   (-0.42) 

Observations 908 908 908 884 884 884 

Adjusted R-sq 0.499 0.498 0.5 0.678 0.678 0.678 

Notes: The above values are estimated results and ***,**, * indicates a statistical significance at 1, 5, 10 
percent, respectively. 
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It is common to consider the results from the specification without outliers, which also 
yield higher adjusted R-squares (where independent variables have more explanatory power). 
Before reviewing our econometric results, it is important to note that we perform several tests 
including testing for normality of variables and residuals, testing for heteroscedasticity, testing 
for multicollinearity, and Ramsey’s Regression Specification Error (RESET) for functional form 
misspecification. Statistical diagnostic tests are not included in the study, but can be shown 
upon request. 

As can be seen in Table 3, most of the coefficients on independent variables are in line 
with the theoretical expectation. Capital intensity, material intensity, firm age, firms in the 
central region and in the municipal region show a positive relationship with labor productivity. 
However, labor input (which implies firm size) and labor quality (which implies the ratio of 
skilled labor used) show a negative relationship with labor productivity. Interestingly, it is clear 
from the results that foreign firms (FOR=1) tend to be more productive than domestic firms 
(FOR=0). However, we find no evidence for (intra-industry) horizontal spillovers at the 2-digit 
industry level by both EFOR (foreign employment participation) and YFOR (foreign output 
participation). This may be due to the nature of the data used in our analysis that we only have 
cross-sectional data at hand. Should we employ the more sophisticated panel data analysis 
(including fixed and random effects), the result may vary. From Table 3, we find clear evidence 
that foreign firms tend to exhibit higher labor productivity than domestic firms, however, we 
find no clear evidence for productivity spillovers in the whole sample.  
 
Impact of FOR by Firm Size (Small, Large) / Form of Legal Organization (Private, Government) 

/Form of Economic Organization (Head Branch, Single Unit) 

In this section, we extend our analysis and consider the impact of FDI spillovers by 
various aspects. As shown below, the estimated results in Table 4 yield mixed evidence 
regarding the impact of FDI spillovers on labor productivity.  
 

Table 4: Impact of FOR by Firm Size (Small, Large) / Form of legal Organization (Private, Government) 
/Form of Economic Organization (Head Branch, Single Unit) 

x Measured by EFOR (Foreign employment share) 
LnYL Small Large Private Government Head Branch Single Unit 

LnKI 0.296*** 0.304*** 0.137*** 0.601*** 0.181 0.186*** 

 (5.32) (3.93) (5.03) (4.54) (1.47) (4.79) 

LnMI 0.118*** 0.183*** 0.0930*** 0.113 0.163*** 0.0964*** 

 (7.55) (5.27) (9.00) (2.17) (4.36) (8.21) 

LnL -0.987*** -1.056*** 0.105* -0.713* -0.550* -0.166* 

 (-13.00) (-8.04) (2.12) (-2.84) (-2.57) (-2.00) 

LnLQ -4.346*** -3.436*** -2.114*** -1.808** -10.62* -2.756*** 

 (-11.99) (-3.45) (-7.88) (-3.34) (-2.42) (-7.88) 

LnAge 0.485*** 0.523** 0.00204 1.686** 0.0478 0.111 

 (4.77) (2.62) (0.03) (4.21) (0.20) (1.46) 

LnHERF -0.602*** -0.644 -0.340** -2.861* 0.305 -0.458** 

 (-3.41) (-1.43) (-2.73) (-2.48) (0.82) (-3.15) 

Central 0.548*** 0.695 0.434*** 0.721 0.384 0.617*** 

 (4.11) (1.94) (4.73) (1.03) (1.65) (5.73) 

MUN 0.433** 0.567 0.473*** 0.453 -0.307 0.393** 
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 (2.94) (1.30) (4.05) (0.56) (-0.69) (2.98) 

FOR 1.155 2.332 N/A N/A -4.889 6.055*** 

 (1.00) (0.71) N/A N/A (-1.68) (3.55) 

LnEFOR 0.00263 2.455 12.75*** -58.85 23.92** 5.094 

 (0.00) (0.26) (5.11) (-1.74) (3.03) (1.80) 

Observations 518 366 651 21 188 501 

Adjusted R-sq 0.805 0.625 0.536 0.823 0.447 0.606 

Notes: Robust t-statistics in parentheses and ***,**, * indicates a statistical significance at 1, 5, 10 percent, 
respectively. 
 

x Measured by YFOR (Foreign output share) 
LnYL Small Large Private Government Head Branch Single Unit 

FOR 1.542* 3.113*** N/A N/A 3.492* 8.249*** 

 (2.37) (3.74) N/A N/A (2.15) (4.71) 

LnYFOR -2.149 0.239 -3.622*** -7.653* -1.164 -2.810** 

 (-1.62) (0.09) (-4.59) (-2.83) (-0.50) (-2.67) 

Observations 518 366 651 21 188 501 

Adjusted R-sq 0.807 0.624 0.529 0.865 0.417 0.61 

Notes: Robust t-statistics in parentheses and ***,**, * indicates a statistical significance at 1, 5, 10 percent, 
respectively. 
Other independent variables (not reported here) are the same as in the case of EFOR above. 
 

As we can see in Table 4, the majority of firms in our analysis are small firms (firms 
with total employees being less than 30 persons), firms that are private in terms of legal 
organization, and firms that are a single unit type, in terms of economic organization. 
Specifically, when we use EFOR as a proxy for foreign presence, we find weak evidence for 
positive horizontal spillovers. In contrast, when we use YFOR as a proxy in the same equation, 
we find strong evidence for negative horizontal spillovers, especially for private firms and firms 
which are single unit type. Overall, we can observe the relationship between foreign presence 
and labor productivity even when we analyze in detail by firm size and by form of legal and 
economic organization. Foreign firms tend to be more productive than domestic firms, 
especially in the case of single-unit typed firm. In summary, we find mixed evidence for FDI 
spillovers in the productivity of private and single unit typed firms in this analysis. 

 
Impact of Foreign Ownership/Presence (FOR) within Each Industry Level (Labor Productivity 

Spillovers in each 2-digit ISIC Industry Level) 

In this section, we further extend the analysis into each 2-digit ISIC industry level and 
the empirical results are shown in Table 5. According to the estimated results, we find some 
positive effects for FDI spillovers in some divisions of business industry; namely, division 52 
(retail trade), division 55 (hotels and restaurants) and divisions 92-93 (recreational and sporting 
activities and other service activities). Apart from that, we find no evidence for horizontal 
spillovers. This is to be expected, as the retail trade division is one of the biggest and fastest 
growing service sectors in Thailand and has received and welcomed FDI for many years. These 
positive results indicate that there is a beneficial effect from FDI in this division and that FDI 
leads to improved labor productivity. 
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Table 5: Impact of Foreign Ownership/Presence within Each Industry Level (Labor Productivity Spillovers in 
each 2-digit ISIC Industry Level) 

x Measured by EFOR (Foreign employment share) 
LnYL Div50 Div51 Div52 Div55 Div70 Div71-74 Div92-93 

LnKI 0.412** 0.152 0.371** 0.312* 0.154 0.506*** 0.296** 

 (3.01) (1.61) (2.94) (2.19) (0.76) (3.89) (3.28) 

LnMI 0.441*** 0.605*** 0.218*** 0.151** -0.0508 0.0376 0.130** 

 (4.84) (6.75) (3.89) (2.99) (-0.43) (1.30) (3.04) 

LnL -0.689*** -0.181 -0.827*** -0.387 -1.000** -0.735*** -1.284*** 

 (-3.61) (-0.93) (-6.41) (-1.62) (-3.12) (-4.47) (-8.52) 

LnLQ -3.337* -1.777 -4.871*** -2.103 -1.322 -4.284*** -6.887*** 

 (-2.01) (-1.93) (-7.53) (-1.55) (-1.70) (-4.41) (-5.69) 

LnAge 0.515 0.631* 0.677** 0.854* 0.778 0.525* -0.300 

 (1.94) (2.05) (3.20) (2.51) (2.03) (2.17) (-1.22) 

Central -0.254 0.615* 0.294 0.416 1.613 0.702 1.097** 

 (-0.54) (2.31) (0.93) (0.74) (1.44) (1.90) (2.99) 

MUN 0.317 0.342 0.0469 -0.477 0.652 0.0506 -0.0544 

 (0.58) (1.54) (0.14) (-1.07) (0.46) (0.12) (-0.10) 

LnEFOR 2.233 6.063 6.576* 10.03* 5.073 6.221 6.994* 

 (0.71) (1.70) (2.07) (2.07) (0.71) (1.72) (2.15) 

Observations 146 181 178 108 30 145 96 

Adjusted R-sq 0.79 0.705 0.798 0.499 0.654 0.64 0.77 

Notes: Robust t-statistics in parentheses and ***,**, * indicates a statistical significance at 1, 5, 10 percent, 
respectively. 
 

x Measured by YFOR (Foreign output share) 
LnYL Div50 Div51 Div52 Div55 Div70 Div71-74 Div92-93 

LnYFOR 2.705 5.949 15.44* 9.937* 329.8 12.16 574.3* 

 (0.71) (1.70) (2.07) (2.07) (0.71) (1.72) (2.15) 

Observations 146 181 178 108 30 145 96 

Adjusted R-sq 0.794 0.705 0.798 0.499 0.654 0.64 0.77 

Notes: Robust t-statistics in parentheses and ***,**, * indicates a statistical significance at 1, 5, 10 percent, 
respectively. 
Other independent variables (not reported here) are the same as in the case of EFOR above. 
 

Importantly, we learn that considering both EFOR and YFOR when observing spillover 
effects is very important in order to cross-check the results, since results may differ and 
conclusions may change when employing these spillover variables separately. This gives us a 
crucial warning not to base estimation and analysis solely on one spillover variable and one 
industry level, since results may vary due to differences in research design and quality of data. 
Besides, since spillover effects can occur through both EFOR and YFOR in the industry, it is 
essential to ensure that we fully estimate and observe results by both spillover variables. 
  From the empirical results in Table 5, it should be noted that division 52 (retail trade) 
and division 55 (hotels and restaurants) are very important, and it is clear from the results that 
these divisions benefit greatly from positive horizontal spillovers from FDI which increases the 
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share of foreign presence by FDI (both EFOR and YFOR) leading to an increase in labor 
productivity of these divisions. 
 

Impact of Foreign Ownership/Presence (FOR) on Wage per worker (Wage Spillovers) 

Similar to the case of labor productivity spillovers, for wage spillovers, we first 
compare the benchmark results with the estimated equation with and with outliers in Table 6 
from Equation (2). Generally, both specifications yield the same results with expected 
theoretical signs. As usual, we would prefer the results from the specification without outliers.  

From Table 6, the results suggest that foreign firms pay higher average wages than 
those of domestic firms when considering the equation with EFOR. Surprisingly, we find strong 
evidence for negative spillover effects from FDI, in the case of wage spillovers for both YFOR 
and EFOR. This simply means that, average wages in the business trade and services sector tend 
to decrease when there is strong foreign presence in the whole sample. According to NESDB 
and the World Bank, the generally poor performance of the Thai services sector raises concerns 
about its potential to be an engine for gains in the real wages and living standard of Thai 
workers in the future. Our empirical results provide strong evidence of negative wage spillovers 
from foreign firms to domestic firms in this sector. Specifically, average wage levels in domestic 
firms are lower where there is a higher presence of foreign firms (negative horizontal 
spillovers). The reason for these negative spillovers might be because that the services sector 
experienced an extraordinary decline in both output and productivity as a result of the 1997-
1998 financial crises. Although output recovered to exceed the 1996 level by 2003, labor 
productivity dropped by 10 percent during 1996-1999, and has been largely stagnant in 
subsequent years. As a result, average wages of domestic firms tend to decline when they have 
to compete with those foreign firms and because competitiveness in the business trade and 
services sector has been low for many years, when there is a strong foreign presence, average 
wages of domestic firms tend to be lowered.   
 

Table 6: Impact of Foreign Ownership/Presence on Wage per worker (Wage Spillovers) 
LnAvrRemu With Outliers Without Outliers 

 (1) (2) (3) (1) (2) (3) 

LnKI 0.167** 0.179** 0.184*** 0.250*** 0.263*** 0.263*** 

 (3.01) (3.25) (3.32) (6.80) (7.29) (7.01) 

LnMI 0.0847*** 0.103*** 0.0848*** 0.0772*** 0.0951*** 0.0769*** 

 (5.04) (6.09) (5.13) (5.44) (6.66) (5.46) 

LnL -0.838*** -0.813*** -0.821*** -0.887*** -0.862*** -0.873*** 

 (-12.00) (-11.85) (-11.84) (-15.26) (-15.40) (-14.96) 

LnLQ -1.060 -1.177 -1.105 -4.786*** -4.945*** -4.760*** 

 (-0.92) (-1.00) (-0.98) (-5.47) (-6.00) (-5.55) 

LnAge 0.552*** 0.541*** 0.561*** 0.547*** 0.536*** 0.550*** 

 (4.83) (4.81) (4.93) (6.05) (6.08) (6.07) 

LnHERF -0.0611 -0.474* -0.939** 0.102 -0.313 -0.511 

 (-0.37) (-2.38) (-2.66) (0.78) (-1.96) (-1.87) 

Central 0.819*** 0.736*** 0.835*** 0.771*** 0.685*** 0.782*** 

 (5.68) (5.04) (5.86) (6.14) (5.47) (6.28) 

MUN 0.524** 0.494** 0.507** 0.325* 0.291 0.313* 
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 (2.91) (2.80) (2.81) (2.06) (1.89) (1.98) 

FOR -0.385 5.422*** 0.684 0.105 5.908*** 0.849 

 (-0.69) (3.89) (1.07) (0.24) (4.97) (1.68) 

LnEFOR  -17.07***   -17.05***  

  (-4.46)   (-5.08)  
LnYFOR   -4.688***   -3.238** 

   (-3.39)   (-2.94) 

Observations 733 733 733 723 723 723 

Adjusted R-sq 0.553 0.564 0.562 0.675 0.687 0.679 

Notes: The above values are estimated results and ***,**, * indicates a statistical significance at 1, 5, 10 
percent, respectively. 
 

From Table 6, we again learn that considering both EFOR and YFOR when observing 
spillover effects are very important in order to crosscheck the estimated results. For both the 
analysis of productivity and wage spillovers, it should be emphasized not to base the estimation 
and analysis solely on one spillover variable and one industry level since results can change due 
to differences in research design and data quality. 
 

Impact of FOR by Firm Size (Small, Large) / Form of Legal Organization (Private, Government) 

/Form of Economic Organization (Head Branch, Single Unit) 

In this part, we extend our analysis in the same manner as in the previous case of labor 
productivity spillovers. From Table 7, we repeat the same exercise on different subsamples of 
firms for analysis. It is clear from the estimated results that negative horizontal spillovers are 
strong in large firms by both EFOR and YFOR. 
 

Table 7: Impact of FOR by Firm Size (Small, Large) / Form of legal Organization (Private, 
Government) /Form of Economic Organization (Head Branch, Single Unit) 

x Measured by EFOR (Foreign employment share) 
LnAvrRemu Small Large Private Government Head Branch Single Unit 

LnKI 0.147*** 0.306*** 0.101*** 0.845** 0.131* 0.157*** 

 (3.39) (5.35) (5.36) (5.35) (2.27) (4.56) 

LnMI 0.0410*** 0.0939*** 0.0142* -0.0448 0.00255 0.0243** 

 (3.32) (3.88) (2.06) (-0.92) (0.17) (2.65) 

LnL -0.978*** -1.153*** 0.0385 -1.062*** -0.0781 -0.0579 

 (-7.48) (-14.32) (1.11) (-9.16) (-0.88) (-0.86) 

LnLQ -5.298*** -4.083*** -3.100*** -0.100 -2.430 -3.004*** 

 (-9.79) (-4.40) (-9.52) (-0.18) (-1.26) (-7.94) 

LnAge 0.393*** 0.528*** 0.0393 0.538 -0.0601 0.136* 

 (4.91) (3.66) (0.89) (1.94) (-0.75) (2.18) 

LnHERF -0.337* -0.601* -0.246** -2.305** -0.355 -0.210 

 (-2.35) (-1.97) (-2.68) (-5.73) (-1.79) (-1.75) 

Central 0.572*** 0.531* 0.558*** 1.033* 0.523*** 0.680*** 

 (4.89) (2.15) (8.52) (2.58) (4.86) (7.80) 

MUN 0.490*** 0.232 0.474*** 0.996 0.143 0.460*** 
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 (3.37) (0.77) (5.70) (2.01) (1.08) (4.04) 

FOR 2.319 9.164*** N/A N/A 2.907* 5.458*** 

 (1.78) (4.63) N/A N/A (2.09) (3.51) 

LnEFOR -7.090* -25.84*** -0.250 -35.34 -0.988 -3.039 

 (-2.37) (-4.42) (-0.14) (-2.39) (-0.26) (-1.33) 

Observations 432 291 607 15 182 450 

Adjusted R-sq 0.655 0.775 0.424 0.923 0.375 0.491 

Notes: Robust t-statistics in parentheses and ***,**, * indicates a statistical significance at 1, 5, 10 percent, 
respectively. 
 

x Measured by YFOR (Foreign output share) 
LnAvrRemu Small Large Private Government Head Branch Single Unit 

FOR 0.159 1.724** N/A N/A 2.850** 4.590** 

 (0.15) (2.65) N/A N/A (2.93) (2.85) 

LnYFOR -1.328 -5.632** -1.230* -8.787* -1.152 -0.640 

 (-1.24) (-3.01) (-2.35) (-2.62) (-1.00) (-0.69) 

Observations 432 291 607 15 182 450 

Adjusted R-sq 0.652 0.768 0.429 0.947 0.379 0.489 

Notes: Robust t-statistics in parentheses and ***,**, * indicates a statistical significance at 1, 5, 10 percent, 
respectively. 
Other independent variables (not reported here) are the same as in the case of EFOR above. 
 

As expected, we can still observe that foreign firms (FOR=1) tend to pay higher average 
wages when compared to those of domestic firms, especially for large firms and firms that are 
both private and state-owned. In conclusion, our results here suggest that a greater presence of 
foreign firms is negatively associated with average wages of domestic firms especially in terms 
of legal organization. One of the reasons for negative spillovers here is that the presence of 
foreign firms may cause a shift in labor demand, leading to a downward pressure on wages 
faced by both foreign firms and domestic firms. 
 

Impact of Foreign Ownership/Presence within Each Industry Level (Wage Spillovers in each 2-

digit ISIC Industry Level) 

 

Table 8: Impact of Foreign Ownership/Presence within Each Industry Level (Wage Spillovers in 
each 2-digit ISIC Industry Level) 

x Measured by EFOR (Foreign employment share) 
LnAvrRemu Div50 Div51 Div52 Div55 Div70 Div71-74 Div92-93 

LnKI 0.313** 0.268*** 0.265** 0.439*** 0.0594 0.214* 0.156* 

 (3.17) (4.52) (2.69) (4.83) (0.49) (2.16) (2.09) 

LnMI 0.268** 0.316*** 0.0980* 0.133* -0.0879 0.0119 0.0849** 

 (3.04) (5.77) (2.34) (2.35) (-1.18) (0.63) (2.89) 

LnL -0.835*** -0.619*** -0.784*** -0.910*** -1.117*** -0.452*** -0.839*** 

 (-6.02) (-5.46) (-4.90) (-9.40) (-6.62) (-3.75) (-4.10) 

LnLQ -6.594*** -3.599*** -5.296*** -7.164*** -11.33 -1.433 -5.082** 

 (-4.69) (-3.47) (-4.42) (-4.72) (-1.55) (-1.56) (-3.18) 
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LnAge 0.555** 0.532** 0.401 0.377 0.814* 0.741*** -0.0459 

 (3.26) (3.19) (1.87) (1.89) (2.88) (3.66) (-0.25) 

Central 0.209 0.803*** 0.663** 0.612* 0.533 0.547 1.000** 

 (0.75) (3.73) (2.68) (2.23) (0.60) (1.74) (2.82) 

MUN -0.128 0.443* 0.563 0.000585 -2.150 -0.0575 0.378 

 (-0.36) (2.07) (1.44) (0.00) (-1.78) (-0.17) (0.90) 

LnEFOR -7.694** -1.129 0.646 2.259 2.851 7.879* -2.830 

 (-3.13) (-0.64) (0.16) (0.80) (1.03) (2.05) (-0.96) 

Observations 119 151 138 91 25 117 82 

Adjusted R-sq 0.824 0.825 0.67 0.776 0.847 0.508 0.537 

Notes: Robust t-statistics in parentheses and ***,**, * indicates a statistical significance at 1, 5, 10 percent, 
respectively. 
 

x Measured by YFOR (Foreign output share) 
LnAvrRemu Div50 Div51 Div52 Div55 Div70 Div71-74 Div92-93 

LnYFOR -9.320** -1.107 1.516 2.237 185.3 15.40* -232.4 

 (-3.13) (-0.64) (0.16) (0.80) (1.03) (2.05) (-0.96) 

Observations 119 151 138 91 25 117 82 

Adjusted R-sq 0.824 0.825 0.67 0.776 0.847 0.508 0.537 

Notes: Robust t-statistics in parentheses and ***,**, * indicates a statistical significance at 1, 5, 10 percent, 
respectively. 
 

The results from Table 8 in this section confirm the results in section 4.4 and 4.5 for 
negative spillovers from FDI, in which, we observe negative intra-industry spillovers in specific 
divisions of industry; namely, division 50 (sale, maintenance, and repair of motor vehicles and 
motorcycles) and positive effects in divisions 71-74 (renting of machinery and equipment, 
computer and related activities, R&D, and other business activities). Apart from that, we find no 
clear evidence for wage spillovers in other divisions of industry. 

The full explanation for negative wage spillovers can be derived from the study of 
Aitken and Harrison (1999), which documents negative spillovers in detail. The authors look at 
panel data of Venezuelan firms and regress plant output on the share of foreign ownership in 
the industry (weighted by employment) and on a number of controls, including time, industry, 
and region dummies. The results differ between foreign and domestic firms: for the former, a 
small positive impact of foreign presence in the industry is found; for the latter, a negative 
effect is uncovered. This finding is consistent with their theoretical model, which predicts an 
ambiguous result, depending on whether positive spillovers or market-stealing effects 
dominate: the former shifts the average cost curve downward whereas the latter increases 
average cost, due to lower output.  

More importantly, the stylized result of zero positive or negative spillovers from FDI is 
of great importance, as it weakens the main economic argument for governments to spend 
resources in attracting FDI. If there is no gap between the private benefits of investment (from 
the point of view of the multinational) and the social benefits of that investment in the host 
country, then there are no economic factors driving the large hand-outs of public money 
observed in many years and in many countries (Aitken et al., 1996). 

Concerning our estimated results here for wage spillovers from FDI in the business and 
services sector, since the data used in our econometric analysis is cross-sectional, we cannot 
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draw a general conclusion that FDI negatively affects the average wage of domestic firms, as we 
only consider the situation for one year. For this reason, we should remember that the results 
are likely to vary if we employ panel data analysis. However, the complete panel data for the 
business trade and services sector for Thailand was not available at the time of analysis. It is 
hoped that based on this paper, there will be additional and meaningful studies in the future to 
help formulate policies for other developing countries and the Thai authority regarding the 
issue of productivity and wage spillovers from FDI in the business trade and services sector.  

 
CONCLUSIONS AND POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

 
This study analyzes productivity and wage spillovers from FDI in Thailand in the business trade 
and services sector. It is one of the few papers to analyze productivity and wage spillovers 
simultaneously and to combine the various methods necessary for analysis and to examine a 
wide range of spillover features regarding the impact of FDI on productivity and wage spillovers 
in these industries. Spillover effects are examined horizontally at the 2-digit industry level by 
spillover variables, foreign employment share, and foreign output share. The estimated results 
indicate that foreign firms are generally more productive and pay higher average wages than 
domestically owned firms. For productivity spillovers, we find no clear evidence for FDI 
spillovers in the whole sample, but find mixed results when analyzing the data conditionally by 
firm size and form of organization of domestic firms. For wage spillovers, we observe negative 
horizontal spillovers from FDI in the whole sample, especially in large firms, and find negative 
spillovers in some divisions of industry. 

Since business trade and services can be an engine of export growth for some 
countries such as Thailand, they are a key determinant of the competitiveness for Thai firms in 
open economies. For this reason, more research is needed on the interaction between business 
trade and services policies and regulation, and the presence of FDI and MNCs. Promising 
questions for future research include the magnitude and direction of spillovers (backward and 
forward linkages) resulting from greater FDI, and the role of services (including services 
policies). It should be noted here that the problems in estimating output and productivity in 
service-producing industries for many developing countries arise largely because of the lack of 
basic survey information covering these industries that could be used for detailed analysis and 
Thailand is no exception in this regard. In detail, the Thai government undertakes a decennial 
census of manufacturing, supplemented by regular annual surveys. There also exists an 
extensive system of statistical reporting for the agricultural regions. In contrast, Thailand has no 
comprehensive economic census for the services industries and annual surveys are limited to a 
few select industries. 

Recently, a change to this trend has been made with the Business Trade and Services 
Survey conducted by the NSO. Moreover, the corresponding business census was a major step 
in developing a business registry that could provide the preliminary framework for future 
annual surveys. It is also important to note that the surveys need not be as extensive as those 
used for manufacturing because the desired information is much less – total revenues, 
purchased inputs, value added, labor compensation, persons engaged, employment and a 
measure of fixed assets constitute the core coverage. A short, accurate and simple survey is 
critical to achieve high rates of compliance. 

In terms of policy implications, the findings presented in this paper provide 
encouraging support for the role that foreign direct investment can play in the development of 
the Thai economy and in the welfare of its citizens in the business trade and services sector. 
However, one should understand that the impacts of FDI are multi-dimensional, while this 
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study observes only one aspect of productivity and wages spillovers was addressed due to data 
limitation. It is hoped that further studies can complement the one presented here. In any case, 
the results in this paper indicate that the case for FDI as a mechanism for economic 
development in Thailand, can draw on empirical evidence that FDI could play an important role 
in the business trade and services sector. However, as supported by the data summary and 
estimated results, the majority of business establishments in Thailand have no foreign 
investment and FDI, and MNCs are still not prevalent in these industries, so we may conclude 
that there are both advantages and disadvantages regarding FDI spillovers from foreign firms to 
domestic firms in this period of our analysis. 
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ABSTRACT 

 
Following the environmental accounting guidelines provided by the Ministry of Environment of 
Japan or over a decade, Japanese automotive and electronics manufacturing industries are 
significantly recognized for the issue of sustainability because of the great amount of carbon 
emission and waste disposal from production chains and products consumption. In this study, 
while examining conventional resource-based view perspective and the slack availability of 
resources theories, we aim to: (1) explore the directional relationships between environmental 
performance and financial performance; (2) determine if virtuous cycles exist; (3) and finally, 
provide insights into future opportunities and challenges-facing environmental performance of 
automotive and electronics industries. We performed fixed and random panel data regression 
analysis of comparable data regarding financial performance and environmental performance. 
The findings of this study reveal significant statistical correlations as well as virtuous cycles 
existing between environmental and financial performance of automotive and electronics 
companies selected, although dominant directional behaviors are different between the two 
industries.  
 
JEL Classifications: Q00, Q56 

 
Keywords: environmental accounting, financial performance 
 

INTRODUCTION 

 

Besides the annual financial report, Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) report has been taken 
into consideration to evaluate companies’ comprehensive performance. Triple Bottom Line, 
which refers to economics, ecological and social aspects, expands the conventional accounting 
report to a larger spectrum including social and environmental report. In the case of Japan, the 
Japanese Ministry of Environment established environmental accounting guidelines to help 
stakeholders accurately identify the investments and costs related to environmental 
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conservation activities. By having a better insight into the potential benefit of these 
investments and costs, the company can not only improve the efficiency of its activities, but 
environmental accounting also plays a very important role in supporting rational decision-
making. 

In our study, we aim to: 
x Explore the relationship between the company’s financial performance and 

environmental performance in Japanese electronics and automotive industries 
x Determine if virtuous cycles exist 
x Provide insights into future opportunities and challenges-facing environmental 

performance of automotive and electronics industries.  
 

LITERATURE REVIEW 

 

Resource-based view perspective and slack availability of resources theory 

Waddock & Graves (1997) were among the first to introduce the correlation between 
CSR and firms’ financial performance, which applied the slack of availability of resources 
perspective. In this point of view, the companies need to be profitable initially before engaging 
in any future environmental innovations. On the other hand, the resource-based view 
perspective involves firms in strategic resources as a mean to generate competitive advantages. 

Adopting this theory, Cortez & Cudia (2012) utilized the resource-based view 
perspective to explain the positive impacts of environmental innovations on financial 
performances by firms, which are realized through both tangible and intangible benefits inflow. 
 
Sustainability reports and environmental accounting in Japan 

Emerging from the initiatives of Kyoto Protocol in 1997, the Ministry of the 
Environment of Japan (MOE) introduced a guideline for environmental accounting record and 
report in 1998. In 2002, MOE revised its guidelines, making three major points: “environmental 
accounting system, environmental conservation cost, and environmental conservation effects 
and economic effects” (Kokubu & Nashiola, 2001). On the other hand, under published 
environmental reports, Japanese companies also emphasize on CO2 and other greenhouse 
gases emission, waste generated and final waste disposal, which are recorded and reported in 
production, transportation and consumption activities. 

 
RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY 

 

Data Gathering 

In this study we conduct a cross-comparative Japanese industry case study over a 10 
years period (2001 – 2010) of 10 consumer electronics companies and 8 automotive companies 
listed in the Tokyo Stock Exchange and Nikkei 225, including: 

x Electronics: Canon Inc., Casio Computer Co. LTD, Fujitsu LTD, Hitachi LTD, JVC, OKI 
Electric Industry Co. LTD, Panasonic Corp., Sharp Corp., Toshiba Corp., Mitsubishi 
Electric. 

x Automotive: Daihatsu, Fuji, Honda, Isuzu, Mazda, Mitsubishi, Toyota. 
x 2001 – 2010 data of company financial performance was attained from Research 

Insight COMPUSTAT. 
x 2001 – 2010 data of company environmental performance was attained from 

published environmental accounting reports and CSR reports in the compliance of 
MOE guidelines. 
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Methodology 

We utilize multiple panel data regressions to explore the directional relationship 
between financial performance and environmental performance.  In examining the impacts of 
environmental performance on financial performance, environmental innovation costs, CO2 
emissions and amount of waste disposal are inserted as independent controlling variables over 
dependent variables of financial measuring factors (income, revenue, 1-year high price, costs of 
sales, current assets, total assets, current liabilities, long-term debt, total liabilities, and 
stockholders’ equity). In the second stage, the relationships between environmental and 
financial variables are reversed. 
 
Propositions 

 
Under resource-based view perspective, we hypothesize: 

 
H1a. Environmental performance positively impacts financial performance of automotive 
companies. 

 
H1b. Environmental performance positively impacts financial performance of electronics 
companies. 

 
Under the slack availability of resources perspective, we hypothesize: 

 
H2a. Financial performance positively impacts environmental performance of automotive 
companies.  

 
H2b. Financial performance positively impacts environmental performance of electronics 
companies. 

 
In order to detect virtuous cycles’ existence, we hypothesize: 

 
H3a. Virtuous cycles exist between environmental and financial performance of automotive 
companies. 

 
H3b. Virtuous cycles exist between environmental and financial performance of electronics 
companies. 
 

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION 

 
Directional relationship between environmental performance and financial performance: 

Automotive manufacturing. Basing on the resource-based view perspective, most of 
the financial performance variables researched upon are significantly affected by 
environmental innovation cost.  

Assets increase along with rising costs for environmental innovation, which suggests 
that the cost be capitalized within the companies and that will lead to future benefits. Also, the 
positive correlation between these costs and total liabilities reveals that companies’ finance 
environmental innovation is primarily from debt, which is argued to be the main source of 



Asia Pacific Business & Economics Perspectives, 2(1), Summer 2014  

 

 74 

capital in Japan. Furthermore, an increase in 1-year high stock price, shareholders’ equity as 
well as revenue suggests that investment in environmental innovation contributes to the 
improvement in consumer trust in the companies’ products which are now more environment-
friendly, thus stimulates consumers to drive their preferences towards these products and 
raises sales. Not only consumers, shareholders also find these companies bear less risky for 
stock holding, as a matter of enhanced legitimacy, which helps boost shareholders’ equity and 
reduce financial leverage. 

On the reverse side, we examined the effect of financial performance on 
environmental innovation based on the slack availability of resource view perspective. While 
total assets obtain positive correlation in the main side, the reverse side concludes in a negative 
correlation. In order for companies to develop their firm sizes; they need to focus on investing 
in environmental innovations. The smaller the firm size is, the more intensive the company 
concentrates on boosting such cost expenditure for its own development. Other variables show 
positive coefficients, such as total long-term debts and total liabilities. The amount of long term 
debts and liabilities are proxies of risk confronting the company. Higher risk prompts the 
company to focus more on environmental innovations as a matter of legitimacy. 

Compared to environmental innovation cost, amount of CO2 emission results in more 
significant impacts on financial performance. The positive coefficients suggest that higher 
amount CO2 emission leads to increasing firm size, revenue, income, total shareholders’ equity 
and common stock earnings per share, which are all attributed to corporate development. 
Moreover, increasing liabilities, both current and non-current, as a result of rising CO2 emission 
reveals that companies are subjected to higher contingent liabilities as a matter of legitimacy as 
well as higher long-term risk due to higher investment in manufacturing. Cost of sales increase 
is attributed to more intensive investment in reducing CO2 emission per vehicle.  

The reverse side shows much fewer significant impacts from financial performance on 
CO2 emission. The positive impact from revenue indicates that higher manufacturing and sales 
lead to more CO2 present in the environment. Besides, the negative coefficient of the 
correlation between costs of sales and CO2 emission indicates that lower cost of sales is caused 
partly by the reduction in the expenditure for lowering CO2 emission per vehicle, leading to 
higher CO2 emission per vehicle, which raises the total amount of CO2 emission. 

Finally, the positive coefficients of the correlations between waste disposal and total 
current liabilities, total liabilities, total assets and revenue suggest that higher waste disposal is 
attributed to the usual development of the companies. Increasing current liabilities suggest that 
the cost of waste disposal is financed via debt, which is analogous to the environmental 
innovation cost. Higher contingent liabilities are also exhibited by the rising waste disposal. 
Additionally, waste disposal prompts higher cost of sales, which is attributed to the investment 
in the effort of reducing waste disposal. On the other hand, the reverse does not tell much 
about the impact of financial performance on waste disposal. However, as common stock 
earnings per share increases, companies are motivated to increase manufacturing, causing 
more waste disposal. 

Electronics manufacturing. In terms of electronics manufacturing companies, while 
there are some correlations exist in the relationship of CO2 and waste valuation towards 
financial performance, we could not find any significant relationship exist between 
environmental innovations and financial performance.  

In the first direction of the impact from CO2 emission towards companies’ financial 
performance, CO2 is positively affecting the companies’ long-term liabilities while it is also has a 
negative correlation with the earnings-per-share. The positive correlation of the amount of CO2 
emission and the long term liabilities can be defined as the more CO2 emission the company 
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produces, the greater it is under the obligation towards the society. For this reason, companies 
face a need to invest more in long-term projects of future CO2 reduction, which are financed 
via long-term debts. Moreover, the amount of CO2 negatively affects the companies’ earnings-
per-share proved in our hypothesis suggests that poor environmental performance due to huge 
amount of CO2 emission leads to poor financial performance. As the companies emit more CO2, 
the companies face a decline in sales due to the reduced consumer trust towards them; hence, 
result in lower income and also lower share values. 

On the reverse side, while long-term liabilities have positive effects, earnings-per-
share has a negative correlation with CO2. The positive correlation between long-term liabilities 
and CO2 can be interpreted as the more those companies procure long-term debt the more 
they expand in the form of capital assets such as machine and factories, which produce more 
CO2 emission. As a result, they produce larger amounts of CO2 emission than it was before due 
to its intensified operations. On the other hand, the negative correlation between earnings-per-
share and CO2 emission can be interpreted, as the less income the company can generate 
overall, the less funds they can use to finance their efforts to reduce the amount of CO2 
emission. This interpretation actually backs up the theory of slack availability of resources, as it 
states that financial performance has to happen first before any company can invest in 
environmental performance. 

Finally, for the first direction, the amount of waste disposal positively affects the 
companies’ current liabilities, which can be attributed to corporate contingent liability. This 
contingent liability raises the need for them to procure short-term liabilities to reduce waste 
disposal amount as well as to diminish the damages they could probably bring on the 
community. Another correlation exists between the waste disposal and earnings-per-share, as 
the waste disposal negatively affects the companies’ earnings-per-share. This proves that the 
more waste a company produces, the less income and sales they can get from the market due 
to the customers’ decrease in trust and preference. 

On the reversed side, there exists a positive correlation between total assets and 
waste disposal, while there is a negative relationship between earnings-per-share and waste 
disposal. The positive correlation between total assets and waste disposal can be related with 
the aspect of firm size. As the companies increase long-term assets, they also increase the 
intensity of their operations; thus, produce more waste along the way. In the other words, 
despite the fact that the companies are growing financially, their operation efficiency does not 
improve in parallel. 

 
CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

Upon this research, we revisited the relationships suggested by the constructs of environmental 
performance and financial performance in two of Japan’s largest industries in the 
manufacturing sector: automotive and electronics. Under the institutional isomorphism and 
network theoretical perspectives, companies are under constraints to act in a homogenous 
sociological pattern, from upward pressure from peer competitors to rising awareness of 
consumers to environmental conservation. 

Various financial as well as environmental performance variables are observed under 
resource-based and slack availability of resources perspectives. The results suggest that bi-
directional impacts occur between financial performance and environmental performance, in 
which different industries represent different dominant directional behaviors. Virtuous cycles 
do exist between financial performance and environmental performance and appear in both 
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industries. Expanding the scope of earlier studies, we discovered that not only environmental 
innovations cost produces virtuous cycles, but CO2 emissions and waste disposals. 

For automotive firms, environmental performance poses more significant impacts on 
financial performance as a matter of legitimacy, which is also stimulated by firms’ size and 
shareholders’ wealth maximization. On the other hand, electronics companies reflect more 
active influence from financial performance to environmental performance. These firms are 
highly recommended to stay aware of operation efficiency, indicated by rising waste and CO2 
emissions as firms grow; as well as effectively monitoring debt utilization since financing 
environmental innovations constitutes large portions of debt. 

From these outcomes, we suggest environmental awareness to be further promoted in 
order to stimulate companies’ performance, which ultimately contributes to shareholders’ 
wealth maximization. Besides, further studies on construct relationships and green supply chain 
in sustainable development would reinforce this research by providing insights into other 
related industries in Japanese manufacturing sectors. 
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APPENDIX 

 

Appendix A. Panel Regression: Environmental performance impacts financial performance (vice-
versa) of electronic companies 

 Environmental Costs CO2 Waste disposal 
1 year high price - -     

Total current asset   + - +  
Total asset     + + 

Total current liability   -  + + 
Total long-term debt   + + +  

Total liability     + + 
Stock-holder equity   - - + + 

Revenues      + 
Costs of sales       
Net income   -  - - 

EPS on common stock       
 

Appendix A. Panel Regression: Environmental performance impacts financial performance (vice-
versa) of automotive companies 
 Environmental Costs CO2 Waste disposal 
1 year high price +  + -   

Total current asset + - +    

Total asset + - +  +  

Total current liability + - +  + + 

Total long-term debt + + +    

Total liability + + +  +  

Stock-holder equity +  +    

Revenues + + + +   

Costs of sales + - + - +  

Net income  - + - +  

EPS on common stock   +   + 

 
 
Environmental performance impacts on Financial performance 
 
Financial performance impacts on Environmental performance 

+ : Positively significant 
- : Negatively significant 
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ABSTRACT 

 
Accounting standard setters prescribed that entity should disclose information to enable users 
of its financial statements evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business activities in 
which it engages and the economic environment in which it operates. Disclosure of relevant 
information will help build transparency with stakeholders. Disclosures are designed to assist 
outside users of financial information for the purpose of making investments in the business.  
The purpose of this study is to show the outcome of the examination of selected publicly listed 
companies in the manufacturing industry’s operating segment disclosure practices with regards 
their compliance with the financial reporting requirement embodied in International Financial 
Reporting Standard (IFRS) 8. A sample of ten (10) listed Philippine manufacturing companies is 
used in this research. This study made use of 2010 IFRS disclosure checklist. The results suggest 
that none of the companies complied with all of the disclosure requirements of IFRS8. 
 

JEL Classification: M41  
 
Keywords: Operating segment, reportable segment disclosures, Philippine Financial Reporting 
Standards, Chief Operating Decision Maker, entity-wide disclosures  
 
 

INTRODUCTION 

 

The increasing global relationship in market paved the way to diversification of firms’ economic 
activities. Because of these multinational operations, communicating the performance of such 
entities to stakeholders is a challenge. It requires disaggregation of data to explain the trends 
and results of components of the entity that have been affected by different factors or that 
have different prospects (Klynveld Peat Marwick Goerdeler [KPMG], 2010). Usually, this 
disaggregated information is presented in the narrative form of the firms’ notes to financial 
statements. 

Financial statements are the principal means through which an entity communicates 
its financial position, financial performance and cash flows to a wide range of users, which 
include investors, employees, lenders, suppliers and other trade creditors, customers, 
government and their agencies, and the general public for decision-making.  Each element of 
the financial statements must comply with the IFRS. Disclosure compliance to these accounting 
standards will facilitate transparency in financial reporting as well as comparability of financial 
information. This transparent reporting results to a relevant and reliable information available 
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to decision makers. High quality financial information disclosed will benefit users in assessing 
the company’s performance across borders. 

In the light of the disclosure requirement, this study was conceived to check the 
disclosure practices of publicly listed manufacturing companies in the Philippines with regard to 
Philippine Financial Reporting Standard (PFRS) 8 - Operating Segments. 

This study ascertains the entities compliance with the disclosure requirements of IFRS 
8 through an examination of annual reports for the year 2010 using IFRS Disclosure Checklist 
developed by KPMG International.  
 

Research Problem and Objectives 

 What is the extent of compliance of publicly listed manufacturing companies with 
regard to the provisions of PFRS 8 - Operating Segments? 
 The specific objectives of this study are: (1) to identify how the manufacturing industry 
discloses operating segment information; and (2) to evaluate the compliance of the 
manufacturing industry with the specific provisions of PFRS 8, the generally accepted 
accounting principle for operating segments in the Philippines. 
 

LITERATURE REVIEW 

 

Business operation is increasingly conducted across national borders; entities must be able to 
use their financial statements to communicate to its target users all over the world. In response 
to this, divergent national accounting practices are converging to an overall global standard 
(Stice, Stice & Skousen, 2007). 

Accounting standards help preparers meet the information demands of stakeholders 
by providing guiding principles and limits for financial reporting. It enhances the comparability 
of financial reports among different companies. It also saves time and money through defining 
which methods, policies and principles to use and how much information to disclose in the 
financial report. Stakeholders benefit too by knowing what one set of accounting rules to apply 
to all companies. 
 The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) develops a set of high quality, 
understandable, enforceable and globally accepted international financial reporting standards 
(IFRSs). These are now used for public reporting purposes in more than 100 countries. 
 

IFRS 8 - Operating Segments 
The basic principle of IFRS 8 is disclosure of information that enables users of its 

financial statements to assess the nature and effects of financial activities, which develops 
business and economic environments in which it operates. It sets outs segment disclosure 
requirement by entities whose debt or equity is traded on a public market (whether a stock 
exchange or foreign national, or an unorganized market, including local and regional markets), 
or to register, or is in the process of registering, its financial statements in a securities 
commission or other regulatory organization, in order to render some kind of instrument in a 
public market.  

The intention of the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) in implementing 
IFRS 8 is to allow investors and other users of financial statements to see the company’s 
operations through the eyes of management (‘the management-perspective approach’) and 
enable investors understand the risks that management face each day and to assess how well 
those risks are managed (IASB, 2012). This approach results in several improvements on 
segment reporting. It increases the number of segments and more meaningful information 
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available to users. It allows users to analyse firms “through the eyes of the management.”  It 
also reduces costs in obtaining segment information, and promotes consistency between 
information contained in Financial Statements and the information disclosed in the 
Management Report (Pardal & Morais, 2011).  

The segment information disclosed internally to Chief Operating Decision Maker 
(CODM) for his decision-making process should be provided to external users (Pardal & Morais, 
2011). The CODM is not a title or position but rather a function of allocating resources to 
segments and assessing its performance.    

According to IFRS 8, an operating segment is a component of an entity:  
  
(a) that develops business activities from which you can get regular income 
and incur expenditure (including ordinary income and expenses for 
transactions with other components of the same entity); (b) whose operating 
results are reviewed on a regular basis by the highest authority in decision-
making base of the entity, to decide on resources to be allocated to the 
segment and assess its performance and; (c) in relation to which information 
is available financial differentiated. 
 
The operating segments often show long-term financial performance if the firms have 

similar economic characteristics. They can add two or more segments operating in a single 
operating segment if aggregation is consistent with the basic principle of this IFRS; the 
segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in each of the following aspects: 
(a) the nature of products and services; (b) the nature of production processes; (c) the type or 
category of customers that is intended its products and services; (d) the methods used to 
distribute their products or provide their services; and (e) if applicable, the nature of the 
regulatory environment to subject, for example, banking, insurance or utilities. 

IFRS 8 uses the quantitative threshold (10 percent) to determine which of the 
operating segments are reportable and should be reported separately. The operating segments 
that do not meet any of the previous quantitative thresholds segments may still be disclosed 
separately, if the leadership believes that it might be useful for users of financial.  

The summary of required disclosures for operating segments is shown in Table 1. 
 

Table1. IFRS 8 disclosure requirements 
Information Required 

General information 
Profit or loss 

x regular income from external customers 
x regular income from transactions with other operating segments of the same entity 
x interest income 
x interest expense 
x depreciation and amortization 
x significant items of income and expenditure disclosed in accordance with paragraph 

86 of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 
x participation of the entity in the profit and loss partners and joint ventures accounted 

for under the equity method 
x spending or income tax on earnings 
x significant non-cash items other than those of depreciation and amortization 

Assets 
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x the amount of investments in associates and joint ventures in which counted under 
the equity method,   

x the amount of additions * non-current assets other than financial instruments, 
deferred tax assets, assets relating to post-employment benefits and rights arising 
from insurance contracts 

Liabilities 
Measurement 
Reconciliations 

x Segments’ revenue to the entity’s revenue 
x Segments’ operating profit or loss to the consolidated operating profit or loss 
x Segments’ assets to the entity’s assets 
x Segments’ liabilities to the entity’s liabilities  
x Segments’ amounts for every other material item of information disclosed to the 

corresponding amount for the entity.  
Restatement of previously reported information 

 
Paragraphs 32 to 34 of IFRS 8 set out additional entity-wide disclosure requirements. 

The rational for this by IASB is that some entities’ business activities are not organised on the 
basis of differences in related products and services or differences in geographical areas of 
operations. Such an entity’s reportable segments may report revenues from a broad range of 
essentially different products and services, or more than one of its reportable segments may 
provide essentially the same products and services. Similarly, an entity’s reportable segments 
may hold assets in different geographical areas and report revenues from customers in 
different geographical areas. Also, it could be more than one of its reportable segments may 
operate in the same geographical area.  

The summary of required disclosures for operating segments is shown in Table 2. 
 

Table 2. Entity-wide disclosures 
Information required 

Products and services 
x Revenue from external customers for each product and service based on entity 

financial statements measures  
Geographic areas 

x revenue from external customers attributed to the country of domicile and all foreign 
countries  

x non-current assets other than financial instruments, deferred tax assets, assets 
relating to post-employment benefits and rights deriving from insurance contracts 
located in the country of domicile and all foreign countries  

Key customers 
  

IFRS 8 superseded IAS 14 Segment Reporting. Entities apply the IFRS in its annual 
financial statements for the years beginning on or after January 1, 2009.  
 

The Concept of Accounting Standards’ Compliance 

There are several studies conducted to check and measure the compliance of business 
entities to IASs/IFRSs that normally look for the explanatory factors for compliance or non-
compliance with the provisions of the accounting standards.  
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Mardini, Crawford and Power (2012) assessed on the impact of IFRS 8 on the 
disclosures of Jordanian listed firms, and ascertained the extent to which segmental 
information provided under IFRS 8 in 2009 differs from segmental disclosures under IAS 14 in 
2008. Mardini et al (2012) used a sample of 109 listed companies in their research. They 
determined that IFRS 8 has significant impact on the manner of which entities disclosed 
segmental information. According to them, companies disclosed more items for each operating 
segments. Also, their findings showed that over one-third of the sample companies changed 
their definition of segments upon the adoption of the new segmental standard. It resulted in 
several improvements in the level of segmental disclosures for the Jordanian listed companies.  

Pardal and Morais (2011) analyzed the new segment disclosures characteristics under 
the adoption of IFRS 8 in Spain. They investigated the segment items disclosed and the level of 
compliance with the standard. They also explored the factors, which are associated with higher 
levels of compliance with the standard and concluded that firm size is statistically related to 
higher levels of disclosure; and that higher profitability is statistically related to lower disclosure 
scores.   

KPMG (2010) surveyed on the segment disclosure practices of 81 companies in 17 
countries prepared under IFRS 8. Their findings indicated that the average number of 
reportable segments had increased under IFRS 8. They found more than half of all companies 
surveyed disclosed a measure of segment profit that excluded certain items like interest, 
depreciation, amortization or one-off items. Also, there was some consistency within some 
sectors on the variety of measures disclosed across their survey.     

Salendrez (2008) studies balance sheet disclosures of ten selected publicly listed food 
companies in the Philippines. The said study identified the top five not fully complied with 
accounting standards by ten-selected food companies. PAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements has a 100percent non-compliance rate while PAS 38 Intangible Asset has 70percent 
non-compliance rate. PAS 2 Inventories has 60percent non-compliance rate; PAS 12 Income 
Taxes, PAS 24 Related-Party Disclosures and PAS 36 Impairment of Assets have 40percent non-
compliance rate; and PAS 19 Employee Benefits and PAS 28 Investment in Associates have 
30percent non-compliance rate. She noted that one of the reasons of non-compliance includes 
the rising complication of accounting IAS/IFRS, which has become increasingly more complex 
and subjective in recent years, requiring procedural proficiency to understand and apply.  There 
have been rapid changes to various standards arising from improvements and union projects.  

Ferrer (2008) conducted Income Statement compliance audit of ten selected publicly 
listed corporations in the Philippine manufacturing industry and concluded that the ten 
companies failed to completely conform to new accounting standards. The income statements 
reviewed were not well presented and important details were concealed.  Also Tugas (2008) 
investigated the compliance of ten selected companies belonging to the mining industry with 
provisions of IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.  He concluded that all of the companies failed to fully 
comply with the provisions of the Standard. 

Hodgdon et al. (2008) performed a study on compliance with IFRS disclosure 
requirements and individual analysts’ forecast errors using a sample of non-U.S. firms that 
claim to comply with the disclosure requirements of IFRS. They examined whether varying 
levels of disclosure compliance in 1999 and 2000 annual reports affect analysts’ forecasts of 
earnings for the years ending December 2000 and 2001 respectively. In fact, their research was 
the first study to examine the effects of firm-level disclosures on the properties of individual 
financial analysts’ forecasts in an international setting. Their findings provided support for the 
viewpoint that the extent of compliance with accounting standards is as important as the 
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standards themselves, and they corroborated to the results of prior studies that find disclosure 
as an important determinant of forecast accuracy.  
 According to Street and Gray (2001), there is a significant extent of non-compliance 
with IAS especially in the case of IAS disclosure requirements. Regarding factors associated with 
compliance with IAS disclosure requirements, there is a significant positive association with a 
U.S. listing/filing and/or non-regional listing, being in the commerce and transportation 
industry, referring exclusively to the use of IAS, being audited by a Big 5+2 firm, and being 
domiciled in People’s Republic of China (PRC) or Switzerland. Also, there is a significant negative 
association with being domiciled in France, Germany, or other Western European countries. As 
regards compliance with IAS measurement and presentation standards, there is a significant 
positive association with exclusive reference to the use of IAS, being audited by a Big 5+2 firms, 
and being domiciled in PRC Additionally, there is a significant negative association with being 
domiciled in France or Africa. 
 Most of the studies regarding compliance are made on European nations and the 
United States; studies concerning the Association of South East Asian Nations (ASEAN) are very 
limited. The Philippines have fully adopted the IAS/IFRS in 2005, which restrict organizations 
into choosing accounting methods that are in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles (GAAP, a move that will help address the need for comparable financial reports and 
harmonization (Dizon, Miranda, & Pineda, 2007). 
 The study of Hope (2003) documented that annual report disclosures are more 
positively related to forecast accuracy when a firm is followed by few analysts consistent that 
the annual report constitutes a relatively larger part of a firm's overall communication process 
when analyst following is low. He also found evidence consistent with the usefulness of 
enforcement being greater in environments in which firms are allowed to choose among a 
larger set of accounting methods.  
 

Framework and Methodology 

The following framework (Figure 1) was used in conducting this study. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 1. Framework of the study 
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Security and Exchange Commission – A Regulatory Body 
The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) has the authority to make, amend, and 

rescind accounting rules and regulations as may be required to carry out the provisions of the 
Securities Regulation Code. To implement the law, the SEC issued SRC Rules 68 and 68.1 setting 
forth the accounting and auditing requirements for financial statements to be submitted to the 
SEC. 

SRC Rule 68, Rules and Regulations Covering Form and Content of Financial 
Statements, is generally applicable to all corporations registered with the SEC. It requires that 
financial statements filed with the SEC be prepared in accordance with GAAP in the Philippines. 
This rule requires covered companies to include in their financial statements certain disclosures 
in addition to those required under the Philippine GAAP. Starting 2005, all companies must 
comply with the IFRS. 

As required by SEC, all registered corporations must submit annual financial 
statements. The complete set of financial statements comprises: (1) a balance sheet; (2) an 
income statement; (3) a statement of changes in equity showing either all changes in equity, or 
changes in equity other than those arising from transactions with equity holders acting in their 
capacity as equity holders; (4) a cash flow statement; and (5) notes, comprising a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. According to PAS 1 paragraph 13, 
“financial statements shall present fairly the financial position, financial performance and cash 
flows of an entity. Fair presentation requires the faithful representation of the effects of 
transactions, other events and conditions in accordance with the definitions and recognition 
criteria for assets, liabilities, income and expenses set out in the Framework. The application of 
IFRSs, with additional disclosure when necessary, is presumed to result in financial statements 
that achieve a fair presentation.” 
 
Data Collection and Processing 

 The study covers the ten (10) companies, which were randomly selected out of the 
forty-three (43) listed companies under the manufacturing sector of the Philippine Stock 
Exchange. 
 The financial statements covering 2010 accounting period were utilized for the 
research as basis for testing the extent of compliance to accounting standards particularly to 
IFRS 8. The 2010 financial statements were used because IFRS 8 became effective only in 
January 1, 2009. It is descriptive in nature and examines the content of the 2010 notes to 
financial statements of the listed corporations in the manufacturing industry. From the annual 
reports, the notes to financial statements disclosed the accounting policies that each company 
adopts.  
 The publicly listed manufacturing companies are not identified by names so that their 
interests will be protected. Instead, codes M1 to M10 are used to conceal the identity of each 
corporation.  

Of the ten (10) annual reports of manufacturing companies reviewed, four were 
audited by Manabat Sanagustin & Co., three by Sycip Gorres Velayo & Co., and one by 
Punongbayan Araullo. All were given unqualified opinion (this means that the financial position 
and results of operations of the companies audited were fairly presented in accordance with 
the generally accepted accounting principles) by their respective external auditors. The total 
assets of the 10 companies included in the study are presented in Table 3.  
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Table 3. List of manufacturing companies reviewed showing their total assets.  
Name of Company Total Assets (in PHP) Auditor’s Opinion 

M1 4,082,153,525 Unqualified 
M2 87,121,000,000 Unqualified 
M3 2,424,243,615  Unqualified 
M4 264,268,065 Unqualified 
M5 32,774,879,608 Unqualified 
M6 2,293,785,070 Unqualified 
M7 326,323,636,399  Unqualified 
M8 4,615,499,148 Unqualified 
M9 164,240,944,473 Unqualified 

M10 4,489,478,233 Unqualified 
Note: Anonymous company name is used in the presentation of findings. 
 

Instrumentation 

This study made use of 2010 International Financial Reporting Standards Disclosure 
Checklist prepared by KPMG. The questionnaire summarises the recognition and measurement 
requirements set out in IFRS.  
 Any disclosure requirements resulting from standards and interpretations that have 
been issued beyond December 31, 2010 are not included in the checklist. This disclosure 
checklist does not apply to condensed interim financial statements prepared in accordance with 
IAS 34 - Interim financial reporting. 

 

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION 

 

Compliance with IFRS 8 

 All companies asserted in their notes that financial statements comply in all material 
respects with IAS and IFRS, but analysis of data showed that none of the companies surveyed 
has fully complied with all of the disclosure requirements of IFRS 8.  Or, they should have 
disclosed the rationale for exclusion why they have omitted the some details.  
 Based on IFRS 8.20 to 8.36, there are at least 36 items listed companies should disclose 
about segments information. It is interestingly to note that M7 has almost complied completely 
with all disclosures; only, it failed to present interest expense. This finance cost cannot be offset 
against interest income since majority of the segment’s revenues are not from interest.  
 The highest compliance achieved was 97.2 percent (35 items out 36) by one company. 
Three companies have 88.9 percent (32 items out of 36) compliance on the provisions of 
segment disclosures while two companies have the lowest compliance of 36.1percent (13 items 
out of 36). 
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Figure 2. Analysis of compliance to IFRS 8 of ten manufacturing companies  
 

Summary of Findings 

All of the ten companies disclosed information that enables users of its financial 
statements assesses the nature and effects of financial activities, which develops business and 
economic environments in which it operates. They provided general information about the 
factors used to identify the entity’s reportable segments, including the basis of organization; 
and types of products and services from which each reportable segment derives its revenues. 
Also, all of them reported comparative information to conform to the requirements of IFRS 8.  
 Eight companies disclosed the changes in the structure of its internal organization in a 
manner that caused the composition of its reportable segments to change.  It is presumed that 
disclosures or restatement of previously reported information are not required when the 
necessary information is not available and the cost to develop it would be excessive. 
 Eight companies disclosed information about reported segment liabilities. Eight 
companies provided information about reported segment profit or loss, including specified 
revenues and expenses included in reported segment profit or loss. Six of them failed to 
disclose the entity’s interest in the profit or loss of associates and joint ventures accounted for 
by the equity method even though financial reports showed their investment in associates.  
 Reconciliations of balance sheet amounts for reportable segments to the entity’s 
balance sheet amounts are required for each date at which a balance sheet is presented. 
Information for prior periods shall be restated. Not all companies complied on this requirement 
especially the reconciliation of other material items. Paragraph 28 of IFRS mandated that all 
material reconciling items should be separately identified and described. 

The measurement base for each segment items shall be the measure reported to the 
chief operating decision maker for the purposes of making decisions about allocating resources 
to the segment and assessing its performance. At a minimum, an entity shall disclose (a) the 
basis of accounting for any transactions between reportable segments; and (b) the nature of 
any differences between the measurements of the reportable segments’ profits or losses and 
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the entity’s profit or loss before income tax expense or income and discontinued operations. 
Only 50 percent of the companies examined complied on these provisions. 

On segment assets, all companies disclosed total assets on all segments reported but 
failed to disclose about the measure of segment assets reviewed by the CODM or are otherwise 
regularly provided to the CODM. Only three of them reported the amount of investment in 
associates and joint ventures accounted for by the equity method and the amounts of additions 
to non-current assets other than financial instruments, deferred tax assets, postemployment 
benefit and rights arising under insurance contracts. 

Less than 50 percent of the manufacturing companies complied on the entity-wide 
disclosure requirements. Only six companies provided information about their major 
customers. While only three companies reported on non-current assets other than financial 
instruments, deferred tax assets, post-employment benefit assets, and rights arising under 
insurance contracts located in the entity’s country of domicile; and located in all foreign 
countries in total in which the entity holds assets. Table 4 summarizes the provisions of IFRS8 
not complied with by ten manufacturing entities. 
 

Table 4. Summary of findings as to compliance with IFRS 8 disclosure requirements of selected 
listed companies in manufacturing industry in the Philippines 

Required disclosures Frequency 

General information 10 
Profit or loss 7.3 
Assets 5.7 
Liabilities 8 
Measurement 5.5 
Reconciliations 7.3 
Restatement of previously reported information 10 
Entity-wide 4.6 
  

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

A financial reporting system supported by high quality accounting standards is fundamental to 
trade and industry development. The implementation of the standards and monitoring on the 
compliance will persist to be taxing.  

Nonetheless, after the first year of the IFRS 8 effectivity, the results of the study 
showed that all of the 10 manufacturing firms examined have their operating segments based 
on their products and services. It is interesting to note that one of the companies investigated 
had 97.2 percent compliance with the provisions of IFRS 8. We can posit that firm compliance is 
higher for firms with international or global operation and is also associated to firm size in 
terms of total assets. This is consistent with the findings of Pardal and Morais (2011).  

The study shows that almost all of the manufacturing companies reviewed did not 
identify who the CODM was or which internal function it related to and this supports the 
findings of Mardini, Crawford, and Power (2012). The preparers of the financial information 
need to be clear on who the CODM is to ensure that information, which is communicated to 
users can be understood and interpreted appropriately (Mardini et. al., 2012).  

On the other hand, based on the companies reviewed, the compliance level of listed 
companies has improved. Regulators like the SEC should be given credit for continuously 
monitoring the adherence of listed companies to the financial reporting standards. It is also 
noted that, being audited by top five auditing firms in the Philippines contributed to the 
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increased conformity to the accounting standards. This supports the findings of Street and Gray 
(2001) that one of the key factors associated with levels of compliance consist of being audited 
by a Big 5+2 firm in the United States. 

The researcher suggests that the increased level of compliance should not be a reason 
for regulators to be complacent in the implementation of international reporting and auditing 
standards. If they ensure greater compliance with accounting standards, there is ample scope 
for further improvement. However, penalties exist for those contravening the law, and the law 
needs to be enforced to maximize compliance (Al-Shammari, 2005).    

In addition, accounting standard setters should simplify some provisions of the 
standards so that it is well and thoroughly understood by preparers of financial reports. The 
diverse reporting needs of different categories of companies, including those of small and 
medium enterprises must be taken into consideration. These require a highly simplified set of 
standards to encourage compliance at these levels (Salendrez, 2008).  

Moreover, the education process needs to be addressed, as this equips preparers and 
auditors with the tools they need to understand and participate in the financial reporting 
process. Accountants need to continuously evaluate and improve their skills set so as to remain 
competitive. In this regard, the Philippine Institute of Certified Public Accountants (PICPA) and 
professional association of CPAs in public practice, commerce and industry, and academe must 
be persistently strengthened so that their members are continually updated to the recent 
developments in international reporting standards. To achieve this, providers of continuing 
professional education for accountants should not only conduct lectures but also give 
workshops on the application of those standards.  

Furthermore, for researchers, they may consider to investigate the compliance by 
unlisted companies where the nature of reliance on accounting information can be quite 
different (Al-Shammari, 2005). Future researchers may possibly include publicly accountable 
firms in other industries not considered in this study.  
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